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On behalf of the Board of Clúid Housing, 
I would like to welcome you to the Annual 
Report for 2017. During the year, the housing 
policy agenda was dominated by the severe 
shortage of housing, particularly in the 
affordable rental sector. At the same time 
demand continued to grow. Consequently, 
there has been a mounting focus on the supply 
of social housing. So I am pleased to announce 
that in 2017 Clúid achieved the housing 
delivery targets set out in our ambitious 
Business Plan. Last year, we provided 595* 
homes to people on social housing waiting lists 
right across the country. 

In 2017, in line with our continuing commitment 
to principles that ensure effective corporate 
governance, Clúid’s board approved a number 
of important governance initiatives. Early in the 
year, we commissioned RSM Ireland to provide 
the internal audit function, and develop a three 
year plan for the business. During this time, 
the auditors will independently examine and 
assess our operations and information systems 
and make recommendations for improvements, 
as appropriate. This process will deliver two 

important outcomes: demonstrable evidence 
of compliance with policy and a clearer 
rationale for taking actions that are supported 
by independently verified data. Clúid’s board 
is confident that, through this function, we can 
improve processes and make operations more 
effective. 

For Clúid, taking care of our housing stock is 
vital. It is paramount that our tenants live in 
comfortable, safe homes. With this in mind, we 
began 2017 by reviewing our repairs policy. 
Our revised policy clearly outlines how Clúid 
aims to meet our customer and business needs 
through the principle of completing the “right 
repair, right time, first time”. It also outlines 
how, through effective asset management, 
Clúid invests in the repair, maintenance and 
improvement of our homes, thus ensuring we 
safeguard the asset, reduce future liabilities, 
ensure high tenant satisfaction and meet 
ongoing legal and regulatory obligations.

As Clúid continues to grow, we remain 
committed to providing the best possible 
service to our tenants. That is why last year 
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*Figure excludes 5 units returned to Sonas Housing Association
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we conducted a number of tenant surveys 
and developed a new complaints policy. 
The revised aim of this policy starts from 
the perspective of the customer: “Listen to 
me, address my concerns and learn from it”. 
The focus for managing complaints is now 
on ensuring that Clúid deals with complaints 
in a timely fashion rather than simply adhering 
to a process. 

As an organisation, Clúid knows that our 
processes and decisions are only as good as 
the information that informs them. And we 
know exactly how important it is to continue 
our efforts to maximise the quality, accuracy 
and accessibility of this information. With 
over 15,000 people living in Clúid properties 
across Ireland, we are acutely aware of the 
implications arising from the introduction of 
the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) 
in May 2018. We began preparing for this in 
2017 and we are committed to ensuring our 
tenants’ personal data is stored correctly, kept 
safe and for the required amount of time only. 
In addition to the requirements of this new 
regulation, we are taking this opportunity to 
identify improvements in how we manage data 
across the business.

In December 2017, Clúid had 164 dedicated, 
professional members of staff. We rely on 
the passion and commitment of all our staff 
to achieve our strategic objectives. As such, 
Clúid’s Business Plan references planning 
for the future, the identification of strategic 
competencies, the critical role of people 
managers and the promotion of a culture 
that rewards continuous improvement and 
collaboration. Identifying how we do this and 
creating a learning, innovating and developing 
organisation is the purpose of our newly 
created Learning and Development (L&D) 
Strategy. The first principle of this strategy 
identifies L&D as a process with a purpose: to 
effect positive change in knowledge, skill and 
attitude that results in a value added way of 
working to build our capacity and capability.

Towards the end of the year, Clúid delivered a 
critical corporate policy which will enable our 
organisation to manage and access the levels 
of debt required to meet the growth objectives 
outlined in our business plan. At present, the 
majority of Clúid’s housing stock is funded 
through loans from the Housing Finance 
Agency (HFA). We know our growth target to 
2019 is ambitious, and diversifying our funding 
streams is a priority. Establishing a treasury 
management policy ensures that Clúid is 
prepared and enabled to achieve this target.

Looking back on 2017 there is much to learn 
from, much to celebrate and much more to 
do. Alongside my fellow board members, 
we look forward to continuing to support Clúid 
to deliver the good quality housing we have 
promised. 

Finally, I would like to express my gratitude  
to Clúid’s dedicated team, and to my fellow  
board members for their ongoing commitment. 

Fiona Barron 
Chairperson
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2017 was another very busy year for Clúid 
Housing. We delivered 595 new homes across 
the country; started work on new housing 
schemes; published ground breaking research; 
and welcomed yet more new staff to the team.

Throughout the year, Clúid staff were 
recognised on a number of occasions for their 
ability to take advantage of new opportunities, 
incite change and promote excellence. In the 
spring, Clúid Works, the ground-breaking new 
service developed by our in-house repairs 
team was acknowledged with an Excellence in 
Customer Service Award from the Chartered 
Institute of Housing. Shortly after, our Head 
of Delivery was presented with the Building 
and Design Woman of the Year award at the 
Irish Building and Design Awards. Our housing 
services team followed with a Community 
Integration Award from the Irish Council for 
Social Housing that acknowledged both Clúid’s 
work and that of the families and communities 
who ensured our Syrian Housing Project was 
a success. Later in the year, a housing services 
team member was presented with the Housing 
Hero Award from the Chartered Institute of 

Housing. Finally, the year was topped off with 
a Published Accounts Award from Chartered 
Accountants Ireland. These awards and the 
countless everyday acts carried out by our team 
demonstrate our commitment to high quality 
work as we deliver housing that enables people 
to create homes and thriving communities.

2017 also saw the formation of the Housing 
Alliance, which is a collaboration of six of the 
larger Affordable Housing Bodies (AHBs): Circle 
VHA; Clúid Housing; Co-operative Housing 
Ireland; Oaklee Housing; Respond; and Túath 
Housing. The primary aim of the Housing 
Alliance is to help create an environment which 
promotes the delivery of social and affordable 
housing. The Housing Alliance is committed 
to increasing standards of service for our 
customers. It is my hope that Clúid will act to 
further strengthen the Housing Alliance over 
the coming years. 

The past twelve months were not without their 
difficulties either. The decision by Eurostat to 
reclassify Approved Housing Bodies (AHBs) as 
public bodies presents a substantial challenge, 

Throughout the year,  
Clúid staff were recognised 
on a number of occasions 
for their ability to 
take advantage of new 
opportunities, incite change 
and promote excellence.
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since it impacts on future funding for AHBs. 
With demand for new social housing at an 
all-time high, Clúid, through the Housing 
Alliance continues to highlight the implications 
of reclassification and the potential routes to 
reversing the decision. 

Clúid is deeply committed to the principle 
of ensuring that everyone has a great place 
to live. In support of this, we commissioned 
a research piece in 2017 through the annual 
Adrian Norridge Housing Research Bursary 
entitled Changing Perceptions: Stigma and 
social housing in Ireland. Social housing stigma 
is an issue that is critically important to Clúid. 
This erroneous perception fails to acknowledge 
the huge contribution of social housing to 
the overall housing economy. The research 
assessed the scale and impact of stigma on 
social housing in Ireland and outlined a range 
of responses. We were delighted to be joined 
by the Minister for Housing, Planning and 
Local Government who officially launched the 
research report. Given the importance of this 
issue, it was wonderful to see such a great deal 
of media interest in the report.

Clúid could not exist without our tenants. 
Listening to their customer service experiences 
gives us direct access to the information we 
need to ensure we are providing the best 
possible service. Our housing services team 
completed a very different type of tenant 
survey in 2017 - one that ditched the telephone 
and postal approach and brought us face-to-
face through focus groups. Feedback from 
Clúid tenants demonstrated that our customers 
are consistently satisfied with our performance 
across many important areas. In addition, 
there were ideas for service improvements that 
our team have already begun implementing. 
Ultimately, the information gained through 
these sessions will inform and improve our 
services across the business. 

2017 was topped off by three major milestones 
for Clúid: the completion of a state-of-the-
art senior citizens housing development in 
Broome Lodge, Cabra; the long-awaited 
commencement of the €21m regeneration 
of St. Mary’s Mansions, Dublin 1; and the 
completion of the Park View Row apartments 
in the heart of Limerick City. You will find more 

information on each of these projects in the 
main body of this report. These developments 
highlight our commitment to our core business 
of delivering quality housing. 

I would like to take this opportunity to 
acknowledge our partners. Foremost amongst 
these are the staff of the many local authorities 
who entrust to Clúid the housing needs of 
those on their waiting lists. The Department of 
Housing, Planning and Local Government, the 
HFA and the Housing Agency all provide the 
support we need to continue delivering new 
housing year on year. We could not continue to 
deliver this housing without the many private 
developers and contractors with whom we work 
in partnership either. As we look forward, I am 
again reminded that I am privileged to work in 
the non-profit housing sector with colleagues 
who continuously improve and promote our 
work in order to deliver our social mission. It is 
truly exciting to be a part of Clúid’s ambitious 
growth plans for the future. 

 
Brian O’Gorman
Chief Executive
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Clúid Housing is an independent, not-for-profit 
charity, leading the way in delivering high quality, 
affordable rented homes to people in housing 
need. Clúid is the largest approved housing 
body in Ireland and is committed to playing 
an active role in the creation of a properly 
functioning housing sector. Our aim is to provide 
good quality, good value housing for families, 
single people, senior citizens and people with 
disabilities. In 2017, Clúid worked in partnership 
with 23 local authorities to deliver 595 new  
homes to 1,976 people across the country. As 
of December 2017, 15,900 people were living  
in 6,300 properties either owned or managed 
by Clúid.

Our business is a social business. Clúid aims to 
maximise success in all that we do and operates 
as efficiently and effectively as possible. Our 
financial stewardship is of the highest standard 
with surpluses invested back into the organisation 
to help further our mission. Clúid works with 
partners who share our commitment to excellence 
and ability to deliver against ambitious targets. 
We are responding creatively and effectively to 
strong social housing demand in Ireland.

Clúid
Housing
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Our vision is of a society 
where everyone has a  
great place to live.

Our mission is to provide 
quality housing and 
services to enable people  
to create homes and 
thriving communities.

Leadership We are passionate about results that matter  
and are committed to constantly challenging the 
way we do things, so that we can be the best at 
what we do.

We aim to set the benchmark for housing quality 
and customer service.

We accept only the highest standards of conduct 
and put service before self-interest.

Responsibility We take personal and collective responsibility 
to ensure that the needs of our customers 
are consistently met in a cost effective and 
sustainable manner.

Caring We believe that when we care for each other, 
interacting with integrity and respect, we will 
ultimately achieve the best possible outcome in 
any given situation.

Collaboration We are approachable and responsive.

We aim to get the best, mutually beneficial results 
from all our working relationships. 

We keep our promises.

OUR VALUES

OUR VISION, MISSION AND VALUES
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Clúid exists to provide good quality, 
affordable long-term housing to 
those in need. In 2017, Clúid worked 
in partnership with the Department 
of Housing, Planning and Local 
Government, local authorities, 
developers, financial institutions 
and others to deliver 595 new social 
housing units across Ireland. 

PERFORMANCE IN 2017

We added 595 
homes to our 
portfolio in 2017. 

H
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Carlow 1

Clare 4

Cork 17

Dublin 235

Galway 78

Kerry 7

Kildare 56

Kilkenny 1

Laois 3

Limerick 29

Longford 7

Louth 52

Meath 73

Offaly 1

Tipperary 18

Waterford 5

Westmeath 7

Wexford 1

Total 595
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Sustainable Housing

Broome Lodge was 
specifically designed to 
promote independent living 
in an age friendly society.

Design Features

At the heart of Broome Lodge is 
a landscaped central courtyard 
designed to encourage regular  
social interaction.
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With the completion of Broome Lodge, Cabra 
51 senior citizens received the keys to their new 
homes. The development is comprised of one 
and two bedroom apartments and has an onsite 
Scheme Manager and a dedicated Housing 
Officer. Many of those who moved into the 
scheme are downsizers whose previous homes 
were no longer fit for purpose. These properties 
will now be made available for larger families on 
social housing waiting lists.

Clúid worked in partnership with a number of 
stakeholders to deliver this much-needed social 
housing in an area of high demand. These include 
Dublin City Council, the HFA, the European 
Investment Bank (EIB) and the Department of 
Housing, Planning and Local Government.

SUSTAINABLE HOUSING
As part of Clúid’s commitment to meeting the 
housing needs of all residents, and under the 
design principles of Universal Design, Broome 
Lodge was specifically designed to promote 
independent living in an age friendly society. 
Universal Design is the design and composition 
of an environment so that it can be accessed, 
understood and used to the greatest extent 
possible by all people regardless of their age, 
size, ability or disability. The major benefits of this 
approach include:

 

Greater independence for residents

Security of tenure for residents

Elimination of the need for retrofitting 

Elimination of adaptation costs 

 Reduction in the capital cost of  

disability grants

Less need for support services.

 
The entire complex runs on an energy efficient 
heating system and the building energy rating 
(BER) of each apartment is A3. Combined with  
an affordable rent, this helps combat fuel  
poverty and supports residents to minimise  
their living costs.

Delivering 
Homes  
for Life 
Broome Lodge, Dublin

“ We are determined to keep pace 
with residents’ changing needs by 
developing schemes like Broome 
Lodge. We believe in supporting 
senior citizens to ‘age in place’ 
which means enabling people to stay 
in their home for as long as they 
wish. That is why Clúid’s design 
standard follows the Universal 
Design principle in its approach to 
delivering sustainable housing.” 

Head of Delivery at Clúid Housing  
Eibhlin O’Connor
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€8M INVESTMENT
The construction of Broome Lodge cost just 
over €8 million. The average cost per apartment 
was just under €190,000, representing excellent 
value for money. The entire project was funded 
by loans from the HFA and financial support from 
the Department of Housing, Planning and Local 
Government. The site itself was provided by 
Dublin City Council.

DESIGN FEATURES
A number of key features were specifically 
included to enhance residents’ overall quality-of-
life. At the heart of Broome Lodge is a landscaped 
central courtyard designed to encourage regular 
social interaction. Meanwhile, interior communal 
areas provide space for social supports from the 
local community and help combat loneliness. All 
areas of the building are accessible including the 
communal laundry and drying room. Meanwhile, 
the inclusion of assistive living technology, 
including a wheelchair and scooter charging  
room, fosters independence.

Clúid worked in partnership with Dublin City 
Council to ensure those with the greatest 
housing and support needs were prioritised and 
allocated a ‘home for life’ at Broome Lodge. 
They include a number of people who were until 
now experiencing homelessness and others 
who were medical priorities. Clúid believes that 
Broome Lodge will provide residents with a high 
quality of life and improved health in a safe, 
secure community.

“ The investment by Government, in partnership with 
Clúid Housing, demonstrates our commitment to 
the people of Cabra and to the provision of better 
housing, new schools and improved infrastructure, 
ensuring better standards and quality of life. Today’s 
proceedings at Broome Lodge act as an important 
milestone for Cabra West, and mark the official opening 
of homes for 51 senior citizens in our community. 
The redevelopment of this site is not only important 
because it provides homes for people who need 
them. It also transforms an area, which has been the 
source of dereliction and vandalism in the past, into 
one that is focused on building a sense of community 
and facilitating people with homes for life.” 

Minister for Finance and Public Expenditure and Reform 
Paschal Donohoe TD
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UNITS
43 one &  
two-bedroom  
apartments

RATING
BER A3

COST OF EACH UNIT
€190k 

TOTAL INVESTMENT
€8m+

H
IG

H
LIG

H
TS

FINANCE HIGHLIGHTS:
The development of Broome Lodge cost over  
€8 million. The scheme is predominantly 
financed by Clúid Housing through private 
finance provided by the HFA. This is in addition 
to Capital Assistance Scheme (CAS) and Capital 
Advance Leasing Facility (CALF) funding from 
the Department of Housing, Planning and 
Local Government.

 

22% CAS

 12% CALF

66% Private Finance

 Site transfer from Dublin City Council through 

the Low Costs Sites Scheme.
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2017 drew to a close with the completion of a 
new high-spec housing scheme located in the 
heart of Limerick city. Formerly known as the 
Hyde Road flats, the deep refurbishment of 
Park View Row delivered 20 homes to people 
on Limerick’s housing waiting list. The original 
units were constructed over 60 years ago and 
in the intervening years, anti-social behaviour 
and illegal dumping resulted in the scheme 
becoming vacant, unattractive for tenants and  
left in disrepair.

SUBSTANTIAL REFURBISHMENT
As a result, it was necessary to carry out 
substantial refurbishment to the complex. In 
order to achieve the desired standard for the 
finished homes, Clúid employed a full design 
team with responsibility for planning, design and 
construction. The main works carried out on the 
scheme included the removal of internal structural 
elements including walls, floors and staircases. 
Externally, the existing cavities were pumped 
with insulation and a new red brick façade was 
installed in addition to a new roof. Meanwhile 
internally, a complete remodelling of the layout 
now accommodates three different types of two 
and three-bed apartments and duplexes.

The scheme was developed using private finance 
secured through the HFA and a capital grant  
from the Department of Housing, Planning and 
Local Government.  

Delivering  
Homes in  
the Heart  
of Limerick 
Park View Row, Limerick

“ Where we were living 
previously, the house was 
damp and mouldy, but now 
we are in a house which 
has a B1 energy rating  
and all the mod cons.  
We couldn’t be happier!” 
  
Mark  
Park View Row resident 
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Clúid worked in close collaboration with Limerick 
City and County Council to deliver these 
thoroughly refurbished homes. Where there was 
once a dilapidated complex of flats we now have 
a contemporary, good quality housing scheme 
providing homes to families and single people. 
Clúid is immensely proud to have delivered Park 
View Row back to the people of Limerick.

FINANCE HIGHLIGHTS: 
The development of Hyde Road cost just over 
€4 million. The scheme is predominantly financed 
by Clúid Housing through private finance 
provided by the HFA. This is in addition to 
CALF funding from the Department of Housing, 
Planning and Local Government. 

 

30% CALF

70% Private Finance 

Site transfer from Limerick City & County Council 

via a Section 183 disposal.

UNITS
20 two and 
three-bedroom 
apartments  
and duplexes

RATING
BER B1

COST OF EACH UNIT
€204k

TOTAL INVESTMENT
€4m

H
IG

H
LIG

H
TS

“ Clúid is proud to hand over the 
keys to twenty families and single 
people as they move into their 
new homes. The completion 
of this scheme highlights the 
commitment of Clúid and Limerick 
City & County Council to deliver 
good quality social housing to 
those on social housing waiting 
lists. We are working with the local 
authorities here in Limerick, and in 
every county in Ireland, to identify 
and develop new opportunities for 
delivering social housing.” 

New Business Manager at Clúid Housing
James O’Halloran  
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Sustainability

Each apartment will have 
flexible, thermostatically 
controlled heating with easy to 
operate intelligent controls.

Innovative Design

Communal social and play areas, 
a community room and socially 
aware landscaping.
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In 2017, Clúid commenced a major regeneration 
of St. Mary’s Mansions, Dublin. The flat complex 
was built by Dublin Corporation nearly 70 years 
ago and was in need of total refurbishment. 
The regeneration works are scheduled for 
completion in mid-2019 and, when complete, 
will provide high quality social housing to 80 
local families and single people. The works will 
include the addition of two new floors and will 
be laid out as one, two, three and four-bedroom 
apartments and duplexes.

The project is being delivered through a 
partnership between Clúid and Dublin City 
Council, Dublin North East Inner City, the 
European Investment Bank (EIB), Ganson, the 
HFA, Inner City Organisations Network (ICON) 
and Rebuilding Ireland.

SUSTAINABILITY AND INNOVATIVE DESIGN
Building on the strong sense of community spirit 
in the area, the redesign of St. Mary’s Mansions 
focused on the input of existing and new 
residents and a number of key features were 
specifically included to enhance overall quality 
of life. These include communal social and play 
areas, a community room and socially aware 
landscaping. At the heart of the regenerated 
scheme will be a central courtyard designed to 
support community activities.

€21 MILLION INVESTMENT
The highly anticipated regeneration project will 
see over €21 million invested in the scheme. 
Clúid will finance this through a combination of 
loans from the HFA and the EIB and financial 
support from the Department of Housing, 
Planning and Local Government.

The BER of each apartment will be A3. 
Combined with an affordable rent, the 
reduced fuel costs will help to combat fuel 
poverty among tenants. Solar electricity will 
supplement demand across the development, 
further reducing living costs for residents. Each 
apartment will have flexible, thermostatically 
controlled heating with easy to operate 
intelligent controls. Cutting-edge insulation 

“ This redevelopment will provide 
much needed social housing for 
the North East Inner City area. 
The project will provide a safe, 
comfortable home for all residents 
whilst communal features such 
as the central courtyard and 
community room will help build 
upon the existing community 
spirit in the area.”

Minister for Housing, Planning and Local Government 
Eoghan Murphy TD

Delivering 
Homes for  
the Future 
St. Mary’s Mansions, Dublin
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technology will eliminate heat loss to create 
super-efficient homes. A high efficiency gas-fired 
centralised heating system will provide central 
heating and hot water on demand via monitored 
heat-units in each home. 

Upon completion, the scheme will be accessed 
by a newly created entrance on Gloucester Place 
Lower. This will improve security and reanimate 
the existing underused space. There will be 
increased car and bike parking facilities and a 
secure, easily maintained bin store. New lift and 
stair cores will improve access for all residents.

The regeneration of St. Mary’s Mansions is the 
first major redevelopment in the area following 
the publication of the Mulvey report in 20161. This 
report highlighted the need for action to make the 
North East Inner City area a safe, attractive and 
vibrant living and working environment for the 
community and its families with opportunities for 
all to lead full lives.  

Clúid is committed to playing an active role  
in ensuring this need becomes a reality.

“ St. Mary’s Mansions is home to a thriving Dublin inner city 
community but, like many others, has faced the challenge 
of anti-social behaviour over the years. This redevelopment 
signals a new chapter in the St. Mary’s Mansions’ story, 
which I have no doubt will be as community focused as it has 
been down through the years. The work undertaken by the 
Department of Housing, Planning and Local Government, in 
conjunction with Clúid Housing and Dublin City Council, is to 
be strongly commended.” 

Minister for Finance and Public Expenditure and Reform  
Paschal Donohoe TD

“ The whole community is 
thrilled to see this going  
ahead! It’ll make a huge 
difference to the area.” 
 
Elsie Campion 
Former St. Mary’s Mansions resident

UNITS
80 one, two, three 
and four-bedroom 
apartments and 
duplexes

RATING
BER A3

TOTAL INVESTMENT
€21m+ 

H
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H
TS

 1.  The Mulvey Report, written by Kieran Mulvey was initiated in response 
to the series of gangland murders in the North East Inner City and 
beyond, arising from the ongoing feud between certain criminal gangs 
and which are related largely to the drug trade and other related 
criminal activities within Ireland and abroad. www.neic.ie
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Previously, we were living in a very isolated area 
with no access to shops, a bus route or any other 
services really. We were on the waiting list for 
around 15 years. 

Life has really gotten so much better for us since 
we moved here. The best bit is being close to the 
village and feeling part of a community now.

This place is for us. This is where we are going 
to have nice peace and quiet. We’re even able to 
sow vegetables and flowers out the back. This is 
definitely our home for life. We love everything 
about it. The house is easy to keep, not expensive 
to run and we’re right beside the shops, the church 
and the pub. Our grandchildren go to the local 
school right beside us so they often come in for a 
visit too. 

It’s suitable for our age here now. We barely put 
on the heating it’s so warm, even in the winter 
time. It’s just so warm. We’re genuinely really very 
pleased with everything and our housing officer is 
fantastic. We got a call from Clúid’s contact centre 
the other day to see if we were happy with the 
repair service. It’s great!

Ann and Séamus
Co. Galway

WHAT OUR RESIDENTS SAY
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Clúid recognises the need to invest beyond basic 
property management in order to achieve our 
vision of ensuring everyone has a great place to 
live. Our goal is to provide good quality housing 
to all our tenants. Delivering this means delivering 
a programme of effective property management 
including routine and cyclical repairs, safety and 
servicing programmes, stock condition surveys 
and planned programmes. There is also a need 
to identify our property investment priorities for 
the future. In 2017, we used our existing property 
services data to plan an asset management 
strategy that will inform our activities for the  
next five years.

Investing 
in our 
Housing 

PROPERTY SERVICES STATISTICS 2017
 
CUSTOMER SATISFACTION WITH REPAIRS 

98%

REPAIRS COMPLETED IN 2017 

11,421

RESPONSIVE REPAIRS TOTAL SPEND (INC. VOIDS)

€3,300,000

PLANNED MAINTENANCE INVESTMENT

€2,300,000

SERVICING TOTAL SPEND

€600,000

STOCK CONDITION SURVEYS COMPLETED

900
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€1.8M IN ENERGY UPGRADES 
Informed by fuel poverty research conducted as 
part of Clúid’s Adrian Norridge Research Bursary, 
A Warm Welcome, in 2017 Clúid worked in 
partnership with the Sustainable Energy Authority 
of Ireland (SEAI) to provide welcome energy 
improvements to our tenants in counties Limerick, 
Longford and Offaly. These improvements were 
made through the Better Energy Community 
Programme. In total, €1.8m has been invested 
in our housing stock. Works included replacing 
out-of-date storage heating systems with new, 
efficient electric heating, installing window and 
door upgrades and improving insulation.

Clúid is committed to providing good quality, 
sustainable housing. As technology continues 
to advance, it is essential that we ensure the 
suitability of our properties (i.e. high levels of 
insulation and air tightness) and that we work hard 
to educate and support our tenants to use new 
installations effectively. These upgrades will see 
a radical improvement in the energy efficiency of 
more than 150 homes and deliver welcome cost 
savings to our residents.

“ We used to buy fuel every 
week but we’ve cut that back 
now to every second week.  
It’s actually changed an awful 
lot for us, we’re just so happy 
with it. I wouldn’t want to 
move house ever again.” 
Bridget  
Co. Longford
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A REPAIRS SERVICE THAT WORKS
Our property services team reached a major 
milestone in 2017. Ensuring we continue to 
provide well maintained homes for our tenants 
is a priority for Clúid. Following a 15-month pilot 
phase, our innovative in-house repairs service, 
Clúid Works, was approved for a national rollout. 
The service is unique in an Irish context and was 
recognised by the CIH as one that is “innovative, 
the essence of good customer service”. The 
concept of “right repair, right time, first time” 
is central to the service ethos and allowing 
customers to set their own appointment time 
has proven to be a significant feature in reducing 
waste and maximising customer satisfaction.

The service is ambitious. However, based on our 
experience of a pilot in the south-east we believe 
it is realistic and achievable. Clúid Works will 
be a significant core service transformation that 
will further support our ability to sustain future 
growth. The implementation has the full support 
and engagement of the rest of the business. Clúid 
sees this expansion as a key enabler, underpinning 
the future success of the business.

Clúid Works is the culmination of six years’ service 
development and an 18-month pilot project. It is 
derived from developing a deep understanding 
of the service over that time and the application 
of the right measures. The application of an 
approach that minimises waste and failure by 
designing the service to meet the customer 
needs, means that the service meets the needs 
of our tenants, our properties and our business. 
In doing so, the service delivers demonstrable 
value for money by minimising waste work and 
ensuring we get the best value for the asset from 
the operatives’ time in the property.

“ They do a fabulous job – 
the service is getting much 
better lately since hiring 
your own operatives – I have 
nothing but great things to 
say about all the lads” 
Lavinia  
Co. Wexford

“ The scheme has taken a simple idea, turning the traditional 
approach for maintenance and repairs ‘on its head’ by putting 
tenants at the forefront of delivery of the service. In allowing 
tenants to choose the time for their repairs to be carried out, 
Clúid Works has shown itself to be entirely customer focused 
and has developed a model of delivery that could easily be 
replicated by other landlords.” 

Chartered Institute of Housing (CIH) 
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KEY STATISTICS FROM OUR PILOT PHASE: 
 

CUSTOMER SATISFACTION AVERAGE 

99%

ACCESS RATE 

99%

 NUMBER OF VISITS TO COMPLETE REPAIR 

1.3 average

COMPLETION TIME FROM FIRST CONTACT

4 days 

COMPLETION TIME FROM  
REQUESTED APPOINTMENT

2 days 

KEY FEATURES:

 
Tenant chooses the date and time of repair

 We empower our operatives to make decisions

 We consider the needs of the asset and  
the tenant

We have active, real time resource control

 We use measures over time to understand  
and improve our system

 We use repair visits as an opportunity to check 
the asset

 We ensure our operatives have the right skills, 
training and equipment

 We manage our stock by type/frequency/asset 
to achieve first time fix

 We work with tenants to better understand 
and use their home.

Clúid Works
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0.8%

Capital Loan  
and Subsidy  

Scheme 
(CLSS)

Funding  
Delivery 
2017

92.6%

Private  
finance

2.5%

Management 
contracts

4%

Capital  
Assistance  

Scheme  
(CAS)

Clúid delivered 595 
new homes in 2017. We 
financed this delivery in 
the following ways:
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Clúid is a not-for-profit charity dedicated to the 
provision of social housing. Our ambitious growth 
strategy will see us deliver 2,500 new units over 
the three years to the end of 2020. We anticipate 
the majority of these units, around 60%, to be 
delivered through construction work with the 
remaining 40% realised through acquisitions.

Through pursuing an active growth strategy, 
Clúid has successfully increased the number of 
dwellings owned by the organisation by 2,000 
over the last 10 years. Our corporate strategy 
aligns closely with the Government’s Rebuilding 
Ireland action plan for increasing the delivery of 
homes nationwide. We are committed to playing 
an active role in a properly functioning housing 
economy, which, in order to function effectively, 
must ensure a sustainable social housing sector. 

In order to continue delivering new social housing, 
Clúid is actively developing new sources of 
funding that will ensure greater supply of units. 
Currently, our lending needs are facilitated 
solely by the HFA. Both Government policy 
that encourages AHBs to broaden their funding 
sources and the tangible benefits of having access 
to more than one lender are the leading factors 
behind Clúid’s drive to identify and secure new 
sources of funding.

Clúid has a strong balance sheet. To date, this 
has largely been thanks to government grants. 
As a result, our organisation has exceptionally 
low gearing. Our financial strength has been 
maintained through a sustained project-based 
funding programme. Recent growth has been 
achieved as a result of Clúid’s ability to develop 
the structures and capacity necessary to manage 
a significantly larger portfolio of housing units. 

Clúid’s current income generation is considered 
very favourable with obvious attractiveness to 
investors. We currently receive payments set at 
92% to 95% (depending on property type) of a 
market rent which is in place for the duration of 
the Payment and Availability Agreement (PAA) of 
20-30 years. This is in addition to rent from our 
social tenants. This means that typically Clúid is 
receiving 110% to 115% of market rental value. 
In addition, there is a low risk of voids given the 
sustained demand for social housing in Ireland. 
On average, on a project basis the current rent 
level can generate Debt Service (interest and 
principal) Cover Ratios of circa. 1.30x-1.40x. 

Based on the financial strength outlined above, 
Clúid intends to utilise its potential to actively 
diversify its funding options in the future.

Delivering 
Sustainable 
Finance

“ The Housing Finance Agency has 
worked with Clúid on a number of 
projects. We have always found 
them to be professional, efficient 
and flexible in their interactions 
with the HFA. They have a strong 
understanding of the technical 
and financial aspects of housing 
provision and are adaptable in 
their approach.” 

Tom Conroy 
Housing Finance Agency
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Clúid Housing is a registered charity and an 
approved housing body. The organisation 
complies with the Voluntary Regulation Code for 
Approved Housing Bodies in Ireland.

THE BOARD OF CLÚID HOUSING
At any one time, the board of Clúid Housing  
must have at least 5 but no more than 14 
members. A detailed overview of the members  
of the board is available on pages 28-31 of  
this report. 

Board members, all of whom are non-executive, 
are drawn from diverse backgrounds and 
bring a broad range of experience and skills to 
their deliberations. All new board members, 
on appointment, are provided with detailed 
briefing documents; governance, financial and 
operational information and an opportunity to be 
briefed by executives on different aspects of the 
organisation’s business. Organised familiarisation 
tours of a number of our housing schemes are 
also provided. Directors have access to training 
programmes and their ongoing development 
needs are kept under review. Board members 
cannot, under the governing documents, receive 
remuneration for services to Clúid Housing and 
may only be reimbursed for incidental expenses 
claimed. The board aims to ensure a balance 
of both age and gender among members and 
openly advertises for positions on the board.

The board is committed to maintaining high 
standards of corporate governance. Clúid 
complies with the Governance Code for 
community, voluntary and charitable organisations 
in Ireland. Members of the board are the 
custodians of Clúid’s vision, mission and values. 
The board approves the strategy, structure, 
business plans and budgets and ensures the 
organisation remains effective and accountable. 
The board are responsible for appointing the 
Chief Executive and delegating a range of 
day-to-day decision-making powers to both the 
incumbent and the executive leadership team.

Governance
28



COMMITTEES 

Attendance at Building  
Our Capacity Committee

Derek McCabe 3 of 5
Avril McDermott 5 of 5
Andrew O’Flanagan 3 of 5
Emer Lawn 4 of 5
David Mullins 2 of 5

Attendance at Finance  
and Audit Committee

Noel Beecher 6 of 6
Fiona Barron 5 of 6
Enda Cunningham 3 of 6
Harry McIntyre 4 of 6
Peter McDevitt 2 of 6
Domhnall Cahill 4 of 6

Attendance at Growing  
Our Business Committee 

Michael Cleary 5 of 6
Harry McIntyre 5 of 6
Paul Mooney 3 of 6
Eoin O’Donoghue 6 of 6
Aidan O’Hogan 2 of 6

Attendance at Serving  
Our Customers Committee 

David Burke 4 of 5
Anthony Kerr 5 of 5
Paul McGartoll 5 of 5
Grainne O’Boyle 4 of 5
Paul Kelly 5 of 5

Appointments and Resignations

Members of the board are 
appointed for a term of four years. 
Members wishing to serve a further 
term must seek re-election at the 
AGM marking the end of their first 
four-year term. Members of the 
board may serve for a maximum of 
eight years. 

In 2017, three new members 
were elected to the board of 
Clúid Housing:

David Mullins 27 Apr 17
Paul Mooney 29 Jun 17
Aidan O’Hogan 29 Jun 17

During the same period, five 
members resigned from the 
board of Clúid Housing:

Orla Barry 25 Jan 17
Jennifer Ward 09 Mar 17
Derek McCabe 29 Jun 17
Andrew O’Flanagan 04 Oct 17
David Burke 26 Oct 17

Attendance at  
Board Meetings

Fiona Barron 6 of 6
Avril McDermott 5 of 6
Noel Beecher 6 of 6
David Burke 6 of 6
Michael Cleary 4 of 6
Enda Cunningham 5 of 6
Anthony Kerr 5 of 6
Derek McCabe 3 of 6
Paul McGartoll 6 of 6
Harry McIntyre 6 of 6
Paul Mooney 3 of 6
David Mullins 3 of 6
Grainne O’Boyle 5 of 6
Andrew O’Flanagan 3 of 6
Aidan O’Hogan 4 of 6
Jennifer Ward 0 of 0
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Fiona Barron 
Fiona is the proprietary Director of AMSCO – 
Alternative Management Solutions. Previously, 
she was Director of Corporate Services with  
the Society of Chartered Surveyors Ireland  
and Chief Executive of the Irish Property  
& Facility Managers’ Association. She is a 
Chartered Surveyor and holds an MBA from 
UCD Smurfit Business School and a Certificate 
of Governance from the IPA. Fiona has extensive 
experience in management and development in 
the property industry.

Avril McDermott
Avril is a Human Resources professional and spent 
15 years as HR Director of Hewlett Packard with 
responsibility for Irish and International business 
units. Previously, she held various managerial 
roles in An Post including Communications, 
Training and Head of Employee Relations. She 
is a Fellow of CIPD and holds a Postgraduate 
Certificate of Governance (UCD). She is currently 
Managing Director of AMHR+ consultancy.

Our 
Board
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Orla Barry 
(resigned 25 January 2017)  
Orla is the Chief Executive of Mental Health 
Ireland, the federation of local Mental Health 
Associations. Previously Orla was Director of 
Mental Health Reform, Director of Services 
with Focus Ireland and Head Occupational 
Therapist with the Eastern Health Board mental 
health services. Orla holds an M.Sc. in Systemic 
Organisation and Management.

Noel Beecher 

(resigned 24 May 2018)
Noel is a Chartered Accountant and is  
Chief Risk Officer at the National Transport 
Authority. Previously, he worked with the  
Railway Procurement Agency, ECCU Assurance 
Company Limited, Mercer and PWC. Noel is a 
former Chairman and Director of the Retirement 
Planning Council of Ireland and is a member of 
the Institute of Directors.

David Burke 

(resigned 26 October 2017) 
David is a Programme Manager with Pobal. He 
has over 20 years’ experience in the housing 
and homelessness sectors. Previously, he held 
a number of senior roles with Focus Ireland and 
was a Board Member of the Irish Council for 
Social Housing and the Disability Federation of 
Ireland. David holds a number of post-graduate 
qualifications in housing.

Michael Cleary 
Michael founded Cleary McCabe & Associates, 
a property development and asset management 
company in 1997. He holds a Masters Degree in 
Planning and Development Economics from the 
Dublin Institute of Technology and is a Fellow 
of the Society of Chartered Surveyors Ireland 
and the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors. 
Michael is also a member of the Institute of 
Directors in Ireland and sits on the boards of  
a number of other organisations.

Enda Cunningham 
Enda is a Fellow of The Institute of Chartered 
Accountants in Ireland. He is currently CEO of 
Matrix Claims Services Ltd and has 14 years’ 
experience on PLC boards, having served as 
Finance Director of Athlone Extrusions plc and 
McInerney Holdings plc. In the latter role he 
gained widespread experience in the UK and Irish 
housing markets including direct experience of 
the housing association industry. He is a director 
of the Pavilion Theatre and holds a Bachelor of 
Commerce degree from NUI Galway.

Anthony Kerr 

(resigned 22 March 2018)
Anthony is currently Director of Operations at 
Newington Housing Association; one of Northern 
Ireland’s leading community based housing 
providers. He has over 20 years’ experience 
in the delivery of frontline housing services. 
He is a member of the Chartered Institute of 
Housing and holds a Post Graduate Diploma 
in Housing. Anthony is also a Trustee of Grow 
NI, a community development and community 
gardening charity.

Derek McCabe 

(resigned 29 June 2017) 
Derek is a civil engineer and has wide business 
interests across a range of areas, including 
farming and forestry. He has been actively 
involved in creating many successful community 
businesses. He is a member of the Institute 
of Directors and the Institute of Engineers 
and has a formal qualification in governance 
and management. Derek is also currently 
Chair of Extern Group – an all-Ireland charity 
which helps to improve the lives of adults and 
children facing challenging circumstances. 
Derek is a Commissioner for Oaths. He has 
corporate governance training and has an ILM 
qualification in Leadership and Management. 
Derek provides valuable guidance as Clúid 
develops social enterprise and engages further 
in supported housing.
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John-Mark McCafferty
John-Mark McCafferty is Chief Executive with 
Threshold, the National Housing Charity, whose 
aim is to prevent homelessness through advice, 
tenancy protection and advocacy. He took up 
this position in January 2017. Prior to Threshold 
John-Mark was Head of Social Justice and Policy 
with the Society of St. Vincent de Paul, working 
on policies including income, utilities policy, 
child poverty, financial inclusion, housing and 
sustainable development.

Paul McGartoll 
(resigned 24 May 2018)
Paul is a chartered urban planner, working for the 
National Transport Authority. A recently returned 
emigrant, he previously worked at Transport for 
London (TfL) where he was closely involved in the 
planning of large-scale housing projects, as well 
as the development of TfL owned land. Paul has 
served as a committee member at the mentoring 
charity Reachout and at his local football club.

Harry McIntyre 
(resigned 24 May 2018)
Harry has over 40 years’ experience at a senior 
level in the Irish financial services sector, including 
five years (2010 – 2015) with NAMA (the National 
Asset Management Agency). Prior to that, he 
worked as a Banking and Debt Restructuring 
consultant and also held management positions 
in the Bank of Ireland and Anglo Irish Bank – 
Private Banking. He is a commerce graduate  
from UCD.

Paul Mooney
Paul is Managing Director of Benchmark Property. 
He is a chartered surveyor and a member of 
the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors & 
the Society of Chartered Surveyors of Ireland. 
He has spent a number of years promoting 
professionalism in the property management 
sector. In 2011, he was appointed by the Minister 
for Justice to the Property Services Board. Paul 
lectures in residential property management and 
is a member of the SCSI’s Property and Facility 
Managers Professional Group.

David Mullins
David Mullins is Professor of Housing Policy at 
the University of Birmingham and is currently 
a Visiting Professor in the Centre for Social 
Innovation at Trinity College Dublin. For nearly 
30 years he has led research projects on the role 
of housing associations in the delivery of housing 
policy. David is a member of the coordination 
committee of the European Network for Housing 
Research (ENHR) and leads the ENHR working 
group on Social Housing Governance. He has 
been a member of three housing association 
boards in England and has worked for the 
Housing Corporation and for two London  
Local Authority Housing Departments.

Grainne O’Boyle 

(resigned 11 May 2018) 
Grainne is a HR professional with over 20 years’ 
experience at senior level in the corporate sector. 
She formerly worked as Head of Employee 
Relations and Safety in Eir Group and is a Director 
of Positive 2 Work Ltd., supporting lifelong 
learning and inclusion. She is a graduate of Keele 
University and holds an MA in Industrial Relations 
and HR. She is also a graduate of University 
College Dublin, with an MSc in Occupational 
Health and Safety.

Aidan O’Hogan 
Aidan is Managing Director of Property Byte Ltd. 
He has over 40 years’ real-estate experience and 
is a Council Member and former Chair of Property 
Industry Ireland, a non-executive director of IRES 
REIT plc. and a former non-executive Director 
of Cairn Homes plc. He is a Fellow of the Royal 
Institution of Chartered Surveyors and The 
Society of Chartered Surveyors Ireland. He is a 
Member of the Friends First Property Advisory 
Committee and former Chair of the Coombe 
Women and Infants University Hospital.

32



Andrew O’Flanagan 
(resigned 4 October 2017) 
Andrew is a solicitor and is currently Chief Legal 
Officer at the National Treasury Management 
Agency. Previously, he was Head of Legal at ESB 
and Chief Legal Officer of Ervia. Andrew also 
worked in New York and London as a corporate 
lawyer with the Wall Street law firm, Davis Polk & 
Wardwell. He is a graduate of both NUI Galway 
and Yale Law School.

Kathi Ó’Riain 
Kathi is a Partner in the Commercial Property 
Department of the Dublin law firm Eugene F. 
Collins. Originally from Cork, Kathi studied Law 
and German in UCC before moving to Dublin 
and doing a Masters in Trinity College. A fluent 
German speaker, she worked in the European 
Commission in Berlin before qualifying as a 
solicitor in the Law Society of Ireland. She also 
spent time working in a large law firm in London. 
She has extensive experience in all areas of 
commercial property law and has been involved 
in many high profile property transactions.

Mark Shakespeare
Mark is Senior Director Treasury, Oil and Gas 
Sector with Montreal incorporated SNC-Lavalin 
Group. Prior to the acquisition of Kentz Group 
by SNC he was Treasurer of London listed Kentz 
Group, and is based in Clonmel. He served as 
Treasurer of the McInerney Homebuilding Group 
for nearly 20 years and was experienced in the 
private and social housing markets in Ireland and 
UK in that role. His previous career had been in 
the public service.

Jennifer Ward 
(resigned 9 March 2017)
Jennifer Ward is an Independent Consultant, 
currently working in consulting at 
PriceWaterhouseCoopers as an associate. 
Jennifer has significant experience as a Senior 
Leader and Change Agent. She is recognised for 
business model advisory, strategy formulation, 
governance and change programme execution. 
Jennifer brings Financial Services experience in 
Ireland and Europe to Clúid. She most recently 
worked with AIB’s Financial Solutions Group and 
in previous roles as Head of Investment Planning 
and Prioritisation and Head of Group Change 
Management for AIB Group. She also previously 
worked in the property division of Bass Plc, and 
lectured for Trinity College, Business School.
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The directors present their annual report 
and the audited financial statements for the 
financial year ended 31 December 2017.

The company is a registered charity. The 
report and results are being presented in a 
form which complies with the requirements 
of the Companies Act 2014 and, although 
not obliged to comply with the following: 
Statements of Recommended Practice 
(SORP) 2014 FRS 102 - Accounting and 
Reporting for Charities, or SORP 2014 
FRS 102 - Statement of Recommended 
Practice for Social Housing Providers, 
Clúid has implemented many of the 
recommendations in these financial 
statements where applicable.

Principal activities
The main activities of the association are 
charitable and relate to the provision of 
social housing across a wide spectrum of 
housing needs, with established charitable 
status (Registered Charity No: 20029975). 
All income is applied solely towards the 
promotion of the charitable objectives of 
the company. 

Clúid Housing Association is a company 
limited by guarantee, and having no share 
capital, incorporated in Ireland on 26th 
January 1994 (Company number 212249).

Results
The surplus for the financial year, after 
taxation, amounted to €8.3 million  
(2016: €6.9 million).

Overview of the business
Clúid is the largest provider of social 
housing, other than the local authorities in 
the Republic of Ireland. It has the largest 
development programme of any Approved 
Housing Body operating in the Republic, 
targeting 2,500 new units over the next 
three years. The company has consistently 
demonstrated the ability to supply 
significant new units each year to meet the 
growing need for social housing.

Importantly, we remain committed to 
providing more than bricks and mortar and 

offer solutions from general needs housing 
to housing for people with care and support 
needs. Our core objective is to provide a 
great place to live.

The year under review
We continue to deliver strong operating and 
financial performance utilising our capacity 
to supply new, affordable housing units. 
The operating surplus for the financial year 
2017, after taxation, amounted to € 8.3 
million, compared to €6.9 million in 2016. 
Turnover for 2017 of €29.3 million was 35% 
higher than 2016, mainly due to increased 
unit numbers financed under payment and 
availability arrangements.

The key performance elements were as 
follows: 
 ›  Revenue from payment & availability up by 

87% or €4.4 million

 › Rental income up by 9% or €1.5 million

 ›  Staff related expenditure up by 20% or 
€1.5 million

Clúid reserves at the year-end amounted to 
€82 million (2016: €74 million). See statement 
of changes in reserve.

Financial highlights overview
Clúid is now starting to see the benefit of 
the capacity building over the last number 
of years. This enhanced capacity was 
developed to enable us to support our 
stated goals of developing sustainable, 
thriving communities and providing 
affordable housing services throughout 
Ireland. 2017 was a strong year for Clúid, 
with an operating surplus of €8.3 million. 
This is an increase of €1.4 million on 2016. 
The stabilisation in the cost base allied to 
growth in income streams was enabled 
through capacity growth.

The operating surplus, excluding housing 
stock depreciation and planned maintenance 
spend, was €5.8 million in 2017 (2016:  
€3.3 million). We are continuing to generate 
sufficient cash flow to meet operating costs 
and loan interest payments and to further 
invest in existing and new homes. 

Directors’ report
For the financial year ended 31 December 2017
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2017
€’000

2016
€’000

Movement
€’000

Income 29,286 21,683 7,603

Expenditure (23,522) (18,425) (5,097)

Operating Surplus 5,764 3,258 2,506

Planned maintenance expenditure (1,063) (942) (121)

Management and maintenance subsidies 1,588 1,587 1

Operating surplus after planned maintenance 525 645 (120)

Government grants receivable 12,235 11,786 449

Loss on sale of tangible assets (523) (393) (130)

Depreciation – land and housing (9,715) (8,446) (1,269)

Surplus for the financial year 1,997 2,947 (950)

Overall surplus 8,286 6,850 1,436
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Analysis of turnover
Turnover increased by 35% from €21.7 million to €29.3 million.

2017
€’000

Share
%

2016
€’000

Share
%

Movement
%

  Development fees – County Councils 1,698 5.8% 261 1.2% 551.2%

  Other income 298 1.0% 182 0.8% 63.6%

  Management fees 228 0.8% 84 0.4% 172.6% 

  Availability income 9,486 32.4% 5,078 23.4% 86.8%

  Rents 17,576 60.0% 16,078 74.2% 9.3%

Total income 29,286 100% 21,683 100% 35.1%

A significant element of this increase was the growth in payments made under payment and availability 
agreements. This has facilitated borrowing of €205 million - up from €105 million in 2016. These revenue flows 
have been the key driver in our capacity to increase the supply of new social housing units.

The breakdown of income by source was:

INCOME 2017

  Development fees 5.8%

  Other income 1.0%

  Management fees 0.8%

  Availability income 32.4%

  Rents  60.0%

INCOME 2016

  Development fees 1.2%

  Other income 0.8%

  Management fees 0.4%

  Availability income 23.4%

  Rents  74.2%
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Analysis of expenditure
Operating expenses increased by 28% to €23.5 million (from €18.4 million in 2016).

2017
€’000

Share
%

2016
€’000

Share
%

Movement
%

  Depreciation (exc. Property assets) 433 1.8% 461 2.5% 6.1%

  Development costs 74 0.3% 322 1.7% 77.0%

  General business running costs 1,272 5.4% 1,214 6.6% -4.8%

  Insurance 776 3.3% 658 3.6% -17.9%

  Interest payable 4,150 17.6% 2,102 11.4% -97.4%

  Professional & consultancy costs 520 2.2% 213 1.2% -143.9%

  Repairs and scheme costs 7,164 30.5% 5,846 31.7% -22.6%

  Staff related costs 9,133 38.8% 7,609 41.3% -20.0%

Total expenditure 23,522 100% 18,425 100% -27.7%

Operating spend has grown over a number of 
years with the key growth being in staff related 
expenditure, interest payable and scheme 
related costs. This is in line with expectation 
as the company has grown to meet different 
ways of undertaking its business. These 
changes have been partly reactive to changes 
in funding, with the growth of the interest 
payable to 18% of costs in 2017 (2016: 11%) 
but, more significantly, are due to changes 
in how we transact our business by focusing 
on our core competencies and expanding 
those aspects. This has allowed greater access 
to services for our customers resulting in 
higher levels of responsive repairs and estate 
development costs. 

The continued development of our service 
is incurring high costs. However, the 
improved service delivery in future years 
will drive efficiencies and enhance the 
safeguarding of our property assets. Clúid 
aims to be a large scale provider of social 
and affordable units that are sustainable 
and places of choice for people to live. The 
development pipeline which is becoming 
predominantly focused on build over 
turnkey projects has resulted in a growth in 
costs. However, improved management of 
new schemes has resulted in a reduction of 
development costs in 2017. The growth in 
net interest cost reflects the growth in the 
amount of debt finance now in place at the 
end of 2017 as well as negligible returns 
from cash deposits.

The breakdown of costs by type was:

EXPENDITURE 2017

EXPENDITURE 2016
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Non-operating activities
The surplus related to non-operating activities decreased by €1.1 million to €2.5 million in 2017.

2017
€’000

2016
€’000

Movement
€’000

Planned maintenance expenditure (1,063) (942) (121)

Management and maintenance subsidies 1,588 1,587 1

Planned maintenance 525 645 (120)

Government grants receivable 12,235 11,786 449

Loss on sale of tangible assets (523) (393) (130)

Depreciation – property assets (9,715) (8,446) (1,269)

Depreciation – land & housing 1,997 2,947 (950)

Surplus relating to non-operating activities 2,522 3,592 (1,070)

The key drivers of this movement were: 

 ›  The planned maintenance after the management and maintenance allowance reflects 
increased spend within the programme.

 ›  The management and maintenance subsidy for CLSS remained consistent with previous 
years as the rates receivable have not been amended. The fall in supply of new units under 
the CLSS has meant that unit numbers have also not materially changed.

 ›  The movement in the net effect of the amortisation of CLSS and CAS grants against 
depreciation of the Clúid residential stock has moved by €1.0 million in the year and 
reflects both the effect of the component replacement capitalisation and the strength of 
the actual component life as some component assets exceed expected life norms.

Balance sheet
One of Clúid’s key strengths is its balance sheet, built over time through strategic long-term 
investment decisions and a prudent approach to growth and risk. Some key parameters at 
31st December 2017 were:

 ›  The value of Clúid’s housing properties, excluding freehold properties, at historic cost less 
depreciation totalled €715 million with additions of €110 million in the year.

 › Homes in management now total 6,367 units.

 ›  Clúid have plans and capacity to develop a further 2,500 homes over the next three years.

 › During the year Clúid drew down CALF and HFA funding of €99 million. 

 ›  At 31 December 2017, the drawdown of CALF and HFA loans totalled €208 million, 
with €205 million outstanding at year end.

 › Our reserves stood at €82 million at 31 December 2017. 

Capital structure and treasury policy
The management of Clúid loan risk is the responsibility of the Director 
of Finance and Corporate Services. The borrowing requirement is 
set annually and approved by the board as part of the business plan 
review. The current interest rate strategy was reviewed in 2017 with an 
analysis of the existing profile outlined on page 39.
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Loan type Interest
rate

Outstanding
balance 2017

€’000

AHB EIB Fixed 2.75% 30,283

AHB Fixed Loan Finance 2.50% 47,545

AHB Fixed Loan Finance 2.75% 4,013

AHB Fixed Loan Finance 2.93% 4,676

AHB Fixed Loan Finance 3.00% 12,138

AHB Fixed Loan Finance 3.35% 4,821

AHB Fixed Loan Finance 3.50% 6,597

AHB Fixed Loan Finance 3.52% 3,635

AHB Fixed Loan Finance 3.78% 591

AHB Fixed Loan Finance 3.85% 12,721

AHB Fixed Loan Finance 4.85% 4,077

Short MTR bridging 2.42% 2,082

AHB variable loan finance 2.67% 22,952

AHB variable loan finance 3.26% 1,674

CALF 2.00% 43,652

Non-residential fixed rate 3.50% 556

Non-residential fixed rate 3.75% 2,899

204,914

Our financial strength
We are financially strong, which gives us the independence to make choices about our future. 
Our surplus is reinvested in what we do and we have no shareholders to whom we must pay a 
dividend. We are efficient and profitable and make the best use of our financial resources to 
secure funding from private investors and public sector partners. We regularly stress-test our 
financial plans to ensure we are resilient to changes in economic assumptions in relation to 
internal and external factors.

Key objective Comment

We will use our surplus to be financially 
strong, resilient and independent so we 
are sustainable for the future. We will 
achieve this by securing an annual surplus, 
excluding depreciation & amortisation, 
of at least €17 million by 2020 to finance 
our investment.

We have generated a surplus of  
€5.2 million in the first year of our  
three-year plan.

We will continue to provide new homes, 
spending at least €0.49 billion by 2020.

We have spent €110 million on property 
development in the year. This is below our 
target of €143 million. It is anticipated that 
the initial year shortfall will be made up 
over the subsequent years of the plan.

We want investors to choose to partner 
with us.

New facility funding is being developed to 
fund the current three-year plan alongside 
existing investor partnerships.
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Our people: Our work
We want our residents to feel our passion. 
We also want our staff to be the best at their 
work. While we work in different teams and 
with different residents, we all play a role in 
building more homes, providing attractive 
and safe environments, and offering the best 
customer service. People from all over the 
world and from very different backgrounds 
work for us. This makes us stronger and more 
able to help the wide range of residents we 
serve. We set ourselves high standards and 
apply commercial discipline to every aspect 
of our business. We try to learn from others 
and from listening carefully to our staff and 
residents. We now need to embrace new 
ways of working for our staff as well as our 
customers. This will include using enhanced 
systems to increase efficiency and to reduce 
waste, bureaucracy, paper and time.

Key objective Comment

We will make work easier and 
more rewarding for our staff by 
creating a strong and flexible 
working environment.

We are currently implementing 
the first integrated housing, 
property services and finance 
system in conjunction with 
Castleton. This implementation 
will deliver automated and 
efficient processes and new 
ways of working. We are 
continually reviewing our office 
enabling modernisation to 
support flexible working.

We have a skilled and talented 
workforce and we commit to 
developing our staff so we 
can promote people internally 
whenever possible.

We have created an emerging 
leaders programme to 
support staff to transition into 
management and individual 
staff benefited from study 
grants in 2017.

ASSETS €MILLION

  Property assets - CAS  55 
  Property assets - CLS  455 
  Property assets - Debt  205 
  Office properties  6 
  Other fixed assets  1 
  Net current assets  22 

 
Per reconciliation file  744 

FINANCED BY €MILLION

  Grants - CAS & CLS  450 
  Grants - Capital  1 
  Loans - HFA & CALF  193 
  Loans - Ulster Bank  3 
  Current liabilities  15 
  Reserves  82 

  
Per reconciliation file  744 
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STAFF  COMPOSITION 
BY GENDER

  Female 53%

  Male 47%

STAFF  COMPOSITION 
BY AGE 

  Under 25 years  1%

  25 to 34 years  22%

  35 to 50 years 55%

  Over 50 years 22%

Providing more new homes
There continues to be a housing shortage 
in Ireland, especially of homes that lower 
and middle-income individuals and families 
can afford. Clúid is absolutely committed 
to delivering as many new homes as we can 
each year to provide a range of options to 
meet this need.

Key objective Comment

We will deliver a range 
of housing types to help 
support mixed communities.

We have a strong pipeline 
of tenures and we continue 
to deliver a range of 
housing types. 

All of our surplus will be 
reinvested in providing 
good quality homes for those 
who could not otherwise 
afford them. This surplus 
will be generated by 
increasing supply or by 
efficiency savings.

At December 2017, we have 
development commitments 
worth €68 million which will 
directly link to new houses 
in 2018 and 2019. It is our 
intention to expand our 
building programme in 
future years.

Our target is to supply at 
least 2,500 homes over the 
next three years.

We have a strong pipeline 
of land identified for 
development and we expect 
to meet our long-term 
average growth aspirations. 
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Closer partnerships
We can achieve more in partnership than we can alone and have always used partnerships to 
help us provide more homes. In order to deal with the changes and challenges ahead, we will 
source partners from the private, local authority and housing association sectors to work with 
us to create new opportunities and a stronger delivery of new homes.

Key objective Comment

We will work more closely with key local 
authorities.

We have a presence in a large number 
of local authority areas and are currently 
actively developing in 25. We have 
been major regeneration partners with 
Longford, Mayo, and Dublin City Council. 

We will be open to joint ventures and 
much closer long-term relationships with 
private-sector partners.

We are open to developing joint 
partnering relationships with developers 
to ensure we can maximise delivery from 
the sector and develop mixed tenure 
housing developments, ensuring good 
quality homes in the long term.

We have approached other like-minded 
housing associations to discuss a formal 
partnership.

We will continue to explore potential 
partnerships to create a larger, more 
efficient and more influential housing 
sector, so that we can continue to 
meet our core purpose of providing  
more homes. 

Governance
Clúid is governed by a board (‘the board’) 
composed of non-executive members. 
Details of board members, who are drawn 
from a range of backgrounds, are set out 
on pages 28 to 31. The board delegates 
some of its responsibilities to committees, 
each of which has a key business remit, 
clear terms of reference and delegated 
authority. They report back to the board at 
each meeting, where their recommendations 
are considered and approved where 
appropriate. 

There are four main functional committees 
within the company: the Finance & Audit 
Committee, the Serving our Customers 
Committee, the Growing our Business 
Committee and the Building Our 
Capacity Committee.

Finance & Audit Committee
The Finance & Audit Committee oversees 
the work of the external and internal audit 
functions as well as financial management 
reporting and the internal control framework 
for the company. The committee reviews  
the audited financial statements for the 
company and recommends them to the 
board for approval. Through the reports it 
receives, the Finance & Audit Committee 
gains external assurance that the company 
has appropriate systems of internal 
control and complies with the regulatory 
expectations in this area. It also oversees 
the company treasury activities including, 
in particular, the strategy for sourcing new 
finance. The Finance & Audit Committee met 
six times during the year.
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Serving Our Customers Committee
The Serving Our Customers Committee is 
responsible for overseeing the provision of 
services to the company residents and other 
customers. The Serving Our Customers 
Committee met five times during the year.

Growing Our Business Committee 
The Growing Our Business Committee is 
responsible for overseeing the effective 
risk management, control and delivery of 
development programmes and projects. 
The Growing Our Business Committee met 
six times during the year.

Building Our Capacity
The Building Our Capacity Committee 
considers remuneration of the Executive 
Team and reviews the staffing cost for the 
whole business. In addition it oversees and 
reviews the process for board member 
appointments and reviews significant 
human resource and governance issues. 
The Building Our Capacity Committee met 
five times during the year.

The Executive Team
Clúid is managed by the Executive Team, 
headed by the Chief Executive and 
supported by Directors of Finance and 
Corporate Services, Housing Management, 
Property Services, New Business, and 
Human Resources. Executives and other 
staff are not company members and act as 
executives within the authority delegated 
by the board. The Executive Team meet 
twice monthly.

Directors
The directors who served during the financial 
year were:
Fiona Barron (Chair)
Avril McDermott (Vice Chair)
Orla Barry (resigned 25 January 2017)
Noel Beecher
David Burke (resigned 26 October 2017)
Michael Cleary
Enda Cunningham
Anthony Kerr 
Derek McCabe (resigned 29 June 2017)
Paul McGartoll
Harry McIntyre 
Paul Mooney (appointed 29 June 2017)
David Mullins (appointed 27 April 2017)
Grainne O’Boyle
Andrew O’Flanagan (resigned 4 October 2017)
Aidan O’Hogan (appointed 29 June 2017)
Jennifer Ward (resigned 9 March 2017)

Principal risks and uncertainties

Capital structure and treasury 
management
Treasury activities focus on ensuring that 
Clúid has access to sufficient levels of cash 
and facilities to enable us to meet our short 
term funding requirements. Clúid plans 
to have facilities available at all times at 
an acceptable cost in accordance with the 
annual budget as approved by the board. 
Clúid treasury management is designed 
to mitigate the impact of any adverse 
movements in interest rates, to ensure that 
loan covenants are met and to rank the 
preservation of capital ahead of returns 
when making investment decisions.

Debt repayment profile
The table at note 16 to the financial 
statements shows an analysis of the 
anticipated contractual cash flows including 
interest payable for Clúid’s loans on an 
undiscounted basis. Interest is calculated on 
drawn down debt held as at 31 December 
2017. For the purposes of this table, debt is 
defined as drawn down. The interest on debt 
is calculated by reference to the underlying 
loan agreement and the rate applicable at 
the balance sheet date.

Cash management and  
counterparty risk
Detailed twelve-month rolling cash flow 
forecasts are prepared and reviewed 
each quarter, in addition to longer term 
forecasts linked to our business plan. We 
aim to operate a conservative counterparty 
risk management strategy. The strategy 
aims to minimise the risk of a financial loss, 
reputational loss or liquidity exposure 
resulting from a counterparty risk to any 
treasury transaction becoming insolvent.

Currency risk
Clúid borrows and invests surplus cash only 
in euro and does not have any currency risk.

Interest rate management
At 31 December 2017, 87% of Clúid’s drawn 
down debt was fixed (2016: 77%), (split 21% 
CALF, 64% HFA and 2% non-residential). 
Clúid manages its exposure to fluctuations in 
interest rates on long term debt by ensuring 
the net exposure to interest rates will, at all 
times, comprise of an appropriate mix of 
fixed and variable rate funding. To manage 
the mix of fixed and variable rates Clúid is 
reviewing its treasury management policy in 
2018, in order to ensure that the exposure 
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to movement in rates is minimised as the 
amount of loans drawn down increases.

Loan covenant compliance
Loan covenants are regularly reviewed 
and compliance reported to the board. All 
covenants were met throughout the year for 
all loan facilities.

Health and safety of employees
The wellbeing of the company’s employees 
is safeguarded through strict adherence 
to health and safety standards. Health 
and safety legislation imposes certain 
requirements on employers and the 
company has taken the necessary action 
to ensure compliance with the legislation, 
including the adoption of a safety statement.

Environmental matters
The company will seek to minimise adverse 
impacts on the environment from its 
activities, while continuing to address health, 
safety and economic issues. To the best of its 
knowledge, the company has complied with 
all applicable legislation and regulations.

Accounting records
The measures taken by the directors to 
ensure compliance with the requirements 
of Sections 281 to 285 of the Companies 
Act 2014 with regard to the keeping of 
accounting records, are the employment of 
appropriately qualified accounting personnel 
and the maintenance of computerised 
accounting systems. The company’s 
accounting records are maintained at the 
company’s registered office at 159-161 
Sheriff Street Upper, Dublin 1.

Events since the end of the year
There have been no significant events 
affecting the company since the year end. 

Future developments
The company plans to continue in its  
present activities.

Statement of relevant audit 
information
Each of the persons who were directors at 
the time when this directors’ report was 
approved has confirmed that: 

 ›  As far as the director is aware, there is no 
relevant audit information of which the 
company’s auditors are unaware, and

 ›  The director has taken all the steps that 
ought to have been taken as a director 
in order to be aware of any relevant 
audit information and to establish that 
the company’s auditors are aware of 
that information.

Auditors
The auditors, Grant Thornton, continue in 
office in accordance with section 383(2) of 
the Companies Act 2014.

This report was approved by the board on 
22nd March 2018 and signed on its behalf. 
 

Fiona Barron (Chair) 
Director

   Noel Beecher
   Director 

 
Date: 22 March 2018
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Directors’ responsibilities statement
For the financial year ended 31 December 2017

The directors are responsible for preparing 
the directors’ report and the financial 
statements in accordance with Irish law 
and regulations.

Irish company law requires the directors 
to prepare the financial statements for 
each financial year. Under the law, the 
directors have elected to prepare the 
financial statements in accordance with Irish 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice 
in Ireland, including Financial Reporting 
Standard 102 ‘The Financial Reporting 
Standard applicable in the UK and Republic 
of Ireland’ and promulgated by the Institute 
of Chartered Accountants in Ireland and 
Irish law.

Under company law, the directors must not 
approve the financial statements unless 
they are satisfied that they give a true 
and fair view of the assets, liabilities and 
financial position of the company as at the 
financial year end date, of the profit or loss 
of the company for that financial year and 
otherwise comply with the Companies 
Act 2014.

In preparing these financial statements, the 
directors are required to:

 ›  Select suitable accounting policies for the 
company’s financial statements and then 
apply them consistently

 ›  Make judgments and accounting estimates 
that are reasonable and prudent

 ›  State whether the financial statements 
have been prepared in accordance with 
applicable accounting standards, identify 
those standards, and note the effect and 
the reasons for any material departure 
from those standards

 ›  Prepare the financial statements on 
the going concern basis unless it is 
inappropriate to presume that the 
company will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for ensuring 
that the company keeps or causes to be 
kept adequate accounting records which 
correctly explain and record the transactions 
of the company; to enable at any time the 
assets, liabilities, financial position and profit 
or loss of the company to be determined 
with reasonable accuracy; to enable them 
to ensure that the financial statements and 
directors’ report comply with the Companies 
Act 2014 and enable the financial statements 
to be audited. They are also responsible 
for safeguarding the assets of the company 
and, hence, for taking reasonable steps for 
the prevention and detection of fraud and 
other irregularities.

The directors are responsible for the 
maintenance and integrity of the corporate 
and financial information included on 
the company’s website. Legislation in 
the Republic of Ireland governing the 
preparation and dissemination of financial 
statements may differ from legislation in 
other jurisdictions.

On behalf of the board 
 

Fiona Barron (Chair) 
Director

   Noel Beecher
   Director 

 
Date: 22 March 2018
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Independent auditors’ report to the  
members of the Clúid Housing Association

Opinion 
We have audited the financial statements of 
Clúid Housing Association, which comprise 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income, 
the Statement of Financial Position, the 
Statement of Cash Flows, the Statement 
of Changes in Equity for the financial year 
ended 31 December 2017, and the related 
notes to the financial statements.

The financial reporting framework that 
has been applied in their preparation of 
the financial statements is Irish law and 
accounting standards issued by the Financial 
Reporting Council and promulgated by the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants in Ireland 
including FRS 102 ‘The Financial Reporting 
Standard applicable in the UK and Republic 
of Ireland’ (Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice in Ireland).

In our opinion, Clúid Housing Association’s 
financial statements:

 ›  Give a true and fair view in accordance 
with Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice in Ireland of the assets, liabilities 
and financial position of the company as 
at 31 December 2017 and of its financial 
performance and cash flows for the 
financial year then ended. 

 ›  Have been properly prepared in 
accordance with the requirements of the 
Companies Act 2014 and the Companies 
(Accounting) Act 2017.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance 
with International Standards on Auditing 
(Ireland) (ISAs (Ireland) and applicable law. 
Our responsibilities under those standards 
are further described in the ‘responsibilities 
of the auditor for the audit of the financial 
statements’ section of our report. We are 
independent of the company in accordance 
with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of financial statements 
in Ireland, namely the Irish Auditing and 
Accounting Supervisory Authority (IAASA) 
Ethical Standard concerning the integrity, 
objectivity and independence of the auditor, 
and the ethical pronouncements established 

by Chartered Accountants Ireland, applied 
as determined to be appropriate in the 
circumstances for the entity. We have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities 
in accordance with these requirements. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to  
going concern
We have nothing to report in respect of 
the following matters in relation to which  
the ISAs (Ireland) require us to report to  
you where:
 ›  The directors’ use of the going concern 

basis of accounting in the preparation of 
the financial statements is not appropriate; 
or

 ›  The directors have not disclosed in the 
financial statements any identified material 
uncertainties that may cast significant 
doubt about the company’s ability to 
continue to adopt the going concern 
basis of accounting for a period of at 
least twelve months from the date when 
the financial statements are authorised 
for issue.

Other information
Other information comprises information 
included in the Annual Report, other 
than the financial statements and our 
auditor’s report thereon. The directors 
are responsible for the other information. 
Our opinion on the financial statements 
does not cover the information and, except 
to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in 
our report, we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial 
statements, our responsibility is to read 
the other information and, in doing so, 
consider whether the other information is 
materially inconsistent with the financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained 
in the audit, or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated. If we identify such 
material inconsistencies or apparent material 
misstatements, we are required to determine 
whether there is a material misstatement FI
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in the financial statements or a material 
misstatement of the other information. 
If, based on the work we have performed, 
we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, 
we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Matters on which we are required to 
report by the Companies Act 2014 
and the Companies (Accounting)  
Act 2017

 ›  We have obtained all the information and 
explanations which we consider necessary 
for the purposes of our audit.

 ›  In our opinion, the accounting records 
of the company were sufficient to permit 
the financial statements to be readily and 
properly audited.

 ›  The financial statements are in agreement 
with the accounting records.

 ›  In our opinion the information given in 
the directors’ report is consistent with 
the financial statements. Based solely on 
the work undertaken in the course of our 
audit, in our opinion, the directors’ report 
has been prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of the Companies Act 2014 
and the Companies (Accounting) Act 2017.

Matters on which we are required to  
report by exception
Based on our knowledge and understanding 
of the company and its environment 
obtained in the course of the audit, we have 
not identified material misstatements in the 
directors’ report.

Under the Companies Act 2014 we are 
required to report to you if, in our opinion, 
the disclosures of directors’ remuneration 
and transactions specified by Sections 305 
to 312 of the Act have not been made. We 
have no exceptions to report arising from 
this responsibility.

Responsibilities of the management 
and those charged with governance 
for the financial statements
As explained more fully in the statement 
of directors’ responsibilities, management 
is responsible for the preparation of the 
financial statements which give a true and 
fair view in accordance with Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice in Ireland, 
including FRS102, and for such internal 

control as directors determine necessary 
to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, 
management is responsible for assessing 
the company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless the 
management either intends to liquidate the 
company or to cease operations, or has no 
realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are 
responsible for overseeing the company’s 
financial reporting process.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the 
audit of the financial statements
The auditor’s objectives are to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ 
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but 
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted 
in accordance with ISAs (Ireland) will always 
detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud 
or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with 
ISAs (Ireland), the auditor will exercise 
professional judgment and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the 
audit. They will also:

 ›  Identify and assess the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and 
perform audit procedures responsive to 
those risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk 
of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control.

 ›  Obtain an understanding of internal 
control relevant to the audit in order C
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to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
of the effectiveness of the company’s 
internal control.

 ›  Evaluate the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by 
management.

 ›  Conclude on the appropriateness of 
management’s use of the going concern 
basis of accounting and, based on 
the audit evidence obtained, whether 
a material uncertainty exists related 
to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the company’s ability 
to continue as a going concern. If they 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, 
they are required to draw attention in the 
auditor’s report to the related disclosures 
in the financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify 
their opinion. Their conclusions are based 
on the audit evidence obtained up to the 
date of the auditor’s report. However, 
future events or conditions may cause 
the company to cease to continue as a 
going concern.

 ›  Evaluate the overall presentation, 
structure and content of the financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and 
whether the financial statements represent 
the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves a true and fair view.

The auditor shall communicate with those 
charged with governance regarding, among 
other matters, the planned scope and timing 
of the audit and significant audit findings, 
including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that may be identified 
during the audit.

Noel Delaney
for and on behalf of
Grant Thornton

Chartered Accountants
Statutory Audit Firm
Dublin 8

Date: 22 March 2018
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Note 2017
€

2016 
€

Turnover  3 29,286,133 21,683,079

Gross profit  29,286,133 21,683,079

Administrative expenses  (29,609,993) (25,161,295)

Other operating income  4 12,235,056 11,785,788

Surplus on maintenance costs  5 525,104 645,054

Operating profit  6 12,436,300 8,952,626

Interest receivable and similar income  9 715 2,222

Interest payable and expenses  10 (4,150,773) (2,104,415)

Profit before tax 8,286,242 6,850,433

Profit for the financial year 8,286,242 6,850,433

There were no recognised gains and losses for 2017 or 2016 other than those included in the 
statement of comprehensive income.

There was no other comprehensive income for 2017 (2016: €NIL).

The notes on pages 53 to 65 form part of these financial statements.

Statement of comprehensive income
For the financial year ended 31 December 2017
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Statement of financial position
As at 31 December 2017

Note 2017
€

2016 
€

Fixed assets  

Tangible assets 11 721,936,579 622,001,846

721,936,579 622,001,846

Current assets

Stocks 12 90,405 59,285

Debtors: amounts falling due within one year 13 4,931,564 5,364,310

Cash at bank and in hand 14 17,003,063 13,867,689

22,025,032 19,291,284

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 15 (15,038,677) (12,485,873)

Net current assets 6,986,355 6,805,411

Total assets less current liabilities 728,922,934 628,807,257

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 16 (646,803,677) (554,974,242)

Net assets 82,119,257 73,833,01

Capital and reserves

Designated reserve 19 23,789,489 23,789,489

Deferred amortisation reserves 19 51,076,027 45,501,239

Other restricted reserve 19 785,500 785,500

Income and expenditure account 19 6,468,241 3,756,787

Shareholders’ funds  82,119,257 73,833,015

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board: 
 

Fiona Barron (Chair) 
Director

   Noel Beecher
   Director 

 

The notes on pages 53 to 65 form part of these financial statements.
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Statement of changes in equity
For the financial year ended 31 December 2017

Designated 
reserve

€

Deferred 
amortisation 

reserve
€

Other 
restricted 

reserve
€

Income and 
expenditure 

account
€

Total  
reserves

€

At 1 January 2017 23,789,489 45,501,239 785,500 3,756,787 73,833,015

Surplus for the financial year - - - 8,286,242 8,286,242

Transfer to/from Income and expenditure - 5,574,788 - (5,574,788) -

At 31 December 2017 23,789,489 51,076,027 785,500 6,468,241 82,119,257

Statement of changes in equity
For the financial year ended 31 December 2016 

Designated 
reserves

€

Deferred 
amortisation 

reserve
€

Other 
restricted 

reserve
€

Income and 
expenditure 

account
€

Total 
reserves

€

At 1 January 2016 23,789,489 40,207,590 785,500 2,200,003 66,982,582

Surplus for the financial year - - - 6,850,433 6,850,433

Transfer to/from income and 
expenditure account

- 5,293,649 - (5,293,649) -

At 31 December 2016 23,789,489 45,501,239 785,500 3,756,787 73,833,015

The notes on pages 53 to 65 form part of these financial statements.
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Statement of cash flows
For the financial year ended 31 December 2017

2017
€

2016
€

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit for the financial year 8,286,242 6,850,433

Adjustments for:

Depreciation of tangible assets 10,148,083 8,906,763

Loss on disposal of tangible assets 522,695 393,018

Government grants (12,235,056) (11,785,788)

Interest paid 4,150,773 2,104,415

Interest received (715) (2,222)

(Increase) in stocks (31,120) (58,805)

Decrease in debtors 432,746 251,407

Increase/(decrease) in creditors 250,860 (278,500)

Decrease in provisions - (160,000)

Net cash generated from operating activities 11,524,508 6,220,721

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of tangible fixed assets (110,636,210) (65,860,240)

Sale of tangible fixed assets 30,699 9,041

Interest received 715 2,222

Net cash from investing activities (110,604,796) (65,848,977)

Cash flows from financing activities

New secured loans 100,211,155 56,339,549

Interest paid (4,150,773) (2,104,415)

Government grants received 6,155,280 9,024,847

Net cash used in financing activities 102,215,662 63,259,981

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 3,135,374 3,631,725

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year 13,867,689 10,235,964

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of financial year 17,003,063 13,867,689

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of financial year comprise:

Cash at bank and in hand 17,003,063 13,867,689

17,003,063 13,867,689

The notes on pages 53 to 65 form part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2017

1. Accounting policies

1.1. Company information
Clúid Housing Association is a company 
limited by guarantee, having no share 
capital, incorporated in Ireland on 26 
January 1994 (Registered number 212249). 
It is a registered charity.

1.2. Basis of preparation of financial 
statements
The financial statements have been prepared 
in accordance with Financial Reporting 
Standard 102, the Financial Reporting 
Standard applicable in the United Kingdom 
and the Republic of Ireland and Irish statute 
comprising of the Companies Act 2014. 

The preparation of financial statements in 
compliance with FRS 102 requires the use of 
certain critical accounting estimates. It also 
requires management to exercise judgment 
in applying the company’s accounting 
policies (See Note 2). 

In preparing the financial statements, 
the company has referred to guidance 
included within the following Statements of 
Recommended Practice (SORPs): Accounting 
and Reporting for Charities, 2014 FRS 
102 and Accounting by Registered Social 
Housing Providers, Update 2014 FRS 102. 
The association has adopted best practice 
to the extent that requirements contained 
within the aforementioned SORPs are 
applicable to the association.

1.3. Turnover
Turnover represents rental income 
receivable from tenants, management 
fees, development fees and revenue 
grants receivable from local authorities, 
the Department of Housing, Planning and 
Local Government and the Health Service 
Executive. Turnover is measured at the 
fair value of the consideration received or 
receivable net of value added tax.

1.4. Development fees
Development fees receivable are credited 
to income in the period in which the 
development work is undertaken.

1.5. Management and maintenance 
subsidies
Management and maintenance subsidies 
are payable annually by the local authorities 
to the company in respect of projects 
completed under the Capital Loan and 
Subsidy Scheme (CLSS).

1.6. Tangible fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets under the cost model 
are stated at historical cost less accumulated 
depreciation and any accumulated 
impairment losses. Historical cost includes 
expenditure that is directly attributable 
to bringing the asset to the location and 
condition necessary for it to be capable 
of operating in the manner intended by 
management.

Depreciation is charged so as to allocate 
the cost of assets less their residual value 
over their estimated useful lives, using the 
straight-line method.

Depreciation is provided on the  
following basis: 

Land and housing properties see page 54

Freehold property 2-3% straight line

Plant and machinery 33% straight line

Motor vehicles 20% straight line

Office equipment 25% straight line

Computer equipment 33% straight line

The assets’ residual values, useful lives and 
depreciation methods are reviewed and 
adjusted prospectively if appropriate, or if 
there is an indication of a significant change 
since the last reporting date.

Gains and losses on disposals are 
determined by comparing the proceeds with 
the carrying amount and are recognised in 
the statement of comprehensive income.
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Notes to the financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2017

Land and housing properties
Housing properties are properties available 
for rent, which are held at cost less 
depreciation. Housing properties in the 
course of development are also stated at 
cost. Housing properties have been split 
between their land and structure costs and 
a specific set of major components which 
require periodic replacement.

Components are depreciated over the 
estimated useful life of the component 
(excluding land) as follows:

Component Useful economic life 
(years) 

Land Not depreciated

Structure 100

Roof 60 

Heating 15

Windows 30

Electrical 30

Bathroom 30

Kitchen 20

Lift 40

Cost includes the cost of acquiring land 
and buildings, the cost of construction and 
capitalised interest. Freehold land is not 
depreciated. Depreciation is charged on 
completed housing properties, excluding the 
land element, on a straight line basis over 
the useful economic life of the component. 
Interest incurred on a loan financing a 
development is capitalised up to the date of 
the practical completion of the scheme.

1.7. Housing loans
Specific loans are advanced by the 
Housing Finance Agency (HFA) and by the 
Department of Housing, Planning and Local 
Government under the Capital Advance 
Leasing Facility (CALF), subject to the terms 
of individual loan agreements. Interest and 
capital repayments are required to be made 
in respect of these loans.

1.8. Operating leases: the  
company as lessee
Rentals paid under operating leases are 
charged to the statement of comprehensive 
income on a straight line basis over the 
lease term. 

Benefits received and receivable as an 
incentive to sign an operating lease are 

recognised on a straight line basis over the 
period until the date the rent is expected to 
be adjusted to the prevailing market rate. 

The company has taken advantage of the 
optional exemption available on transition 
to FRS 102, which allows lease incentives 
on leases entered into before the date of 
transition to the standard 01 January 2015, 
to continue to be charged over the period 
to the first market rent review rather than the 
term of the lease.

1.9. Stocks
Stocks are stated at the lower of cost and 
net realisable value, being the estimated 
selling price less costs to complete and sell. 
Cost is based on the cost of purchase on 
a first in, first out basis. Work in progress 
and finished goods include labour and 
attributable overheads.

At each reporting date, stocks are assessed 
for impairment. If stock is impaired, the 
carrying amount is reduced to its selling 
price less costs to complete and sell. The 
impairment loss is recognised immediately  
in profit or loss.

1.10. Debtors
Short term debtors are measured at 
transaction price, less any impairment. 
Loans receivable are measured initially at 
fair value, net of transaction costs, and 
are measured subsequently at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method, 
less any impairment.

1.11. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash is represented by cash in hand 
and deposits with financial institutions 
repayable without penalty on notice of not 
more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are 
highly liquid investments that mature in no 
more than three months from the date of 
acquisition and are readily convertible to 
known amounts of cash with insignificant 
risk of change in value.

In the statement of cash flows, cash and 
cash equivalents are shown net of bank 
overdrafts that are repayable on demand 
and form an integral part of the company’s 
cash management.

1.12. Financial instruments
The company only enters into basic 
financial instrument transactions that result 
in the recognition of financial assets and 
liabilities such as trade and other debtors 
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Notes to the financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2017

and creditors, loans from banks and other 
third parties, loans to related parties and 
investments in non-puttable ordinary shares.

Debt instruments (other than those 
wholly repayable or receivable within one 
year), including loans and other accounts 
receivable and payable, are initially 
measured at present value of the future cash 
flows and subsequently at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method. Debt 
instruments that are payable or receivable 
within one year, typically trade debtors 
and creditors, are measured, initially and 
subsequently, at the undiscounted amount 
of the cash or other consideration expected 
to be paid or received. However, if the 
arrangements of a short-term instrument 
constitute a financing transaction, such 
as the payment of a trade debt deferred 
beyond normal business terms or financed 
at a rate of interest that is not a market rate 
or in case of an out-right short-term loan not 
at market rate, the financial asset or liability 
is measured, initially, at the present value of 
the future cash flow discounted at a market 
rate of interest for a similar debt instrument 
and subsequently at amortised cost.

Investments in non-convertible preference 
shares and in non-puttable ordinary and 
preference shares are measured:

 ›  At fair value with changes recognised in 
the Statement of comprehensive income if 
the shares are publicly traded or their fair 
value can otherwise be measured reliably

 ›  At cost less impairment for all other 
investments.

Financial assets that are measured at 
cost and amortised cost are assessed 
at the end of each reporting period for 
objective evidence of the Statement of 
comprehensive income.

For financial assets measured at amortised 
cost, the impairment loss is measured as 
the difference between an asset’s carrying 
amount and the present value of estimated 
cash flows discounted at the asset’s original 
effective interest rate. If a financial asset has 
a variable interest rate, the discount rate 
for measuring any impairment loss is the 
current  effective interest rate determined 
under the contract.

For financial assets measured at cost less 
impairment, the impairment loss is measured 

as the difference between an asset’s carrying 
amount and best estimate of the recoverable 
amount, which is an approximation of the 
amount that the company would receive 
for the asset if it were to be sold at the 
reporting date.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and 
the net amount reported in the statement 
of financial position when there is an 
enforceable right to set off the recognised 
amounts and there is an intention to settle 
on a net basis or to realise the asset and 
settle the liability simultaneously.

Derivatives, including interest rate swaps 
and forward foreign exchange contracts, are 
not basic financial instruments. Derivatives 
are initially recognised at fair value on 
the date a derivative contract is entered 
into and are subsequently re-measured at 
their fair value. Changes in the fair value of 
derivatives are recognised in profit or loss 
in finance costs or income, as appropriate. 
The company does not currently apply 
hedge accounting for interest rate and 
foreign exchange derivatives.

1.13. Creditors
Short term creditors are measured at the 
transaction price. Other financial liabilities, 
including bank loans, are measured initially 
at fair value, net of transaction costs, and are 
measured subsequently at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method.

1.14. Government grants
In line with changes required under FRS 
102, amounts advanced by local authorities 
and the Department of Housing, Planning 
and Local Government, under the Capital 
Loan and Subsidy Scheme (CLSS) and the 
Capital Assistance Scheme (CAS) which 
were previously treated as loans, have been 
changed to now be classified as government 
grants. As a result, where housing 
developments have been financed wholly or 
partly by such grants the value of the related 
grant for the development is shown net of 
amortisation. Grants relating to assets are 
recognised in income on a systematic basis 
over the aggregate useful life for the housing 
assets of 50 years.

Grants are accounted under the accruals 
model as permitted by FRS 102. Grants 
relating to expenditure on tangible fixed 
assets are credited to the income statement 
at the same rate as the depreciation on the 
assets to which the grant relates. C
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Notes to the financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2017

Grants of a revenue nature are recognised in 
the income statement in the same period as 
the related expenditure.

1.15. Finance costs
Finance costs are charged to the statement 
of comprehensive income over the term 
of the debt using the effective interest 
method so that the amount charged is at a 
constant rate on the carrying amount.  
Issue costs are initially recognised as a 
reduction in the proceeds of the associated 
capital instrument.

1.16 Pensions

Defined contribution pension plan
The company operates a defined 
contribution plan for its employees. 
A defined contribution plan is a pension  
plan under which the company pays 
fixed contributions into a separate entity. 
Once the contributions have been paid  
the company has no further payment 
obligations.

The contributions are recognised as an 
expense in the statement of comprehensive 
income when they fall due. Amounts not 
paid are shown in accruals as a liability in 
the statement of financial position. The 
assets of the plan are held separately  
from the company in independently 
administered funds.

1.17 Holiday pay accrual
A liability is recognised to the extent of any 
unused holiday pay entitlement which is 
accrued at the financial year end date and 
carried forward to future periods. This is 
measured at the undiscounted salary cost of 
the future holiday entitlement so accrued at 
the statement of financial position date.

1.18. Interest income
Interest income is recognised in the 
statement of comprehensive income using 
the effective interest method.

1.19. Designated reserve
The company holds a designated reserve 
for the long-term maintenance of the 
company’s properties. Funds transferred 
into this reserve each year are based on 
an assessment of the long-term amounts 
required, as reflected in the annual stock 
condition survey.

Funds historically transferred out of reserves 
each year are based on actual spend on an 
agreed planned maintenance programme, 

which reflects the needs of our tenants and 
the adequate maintenance of housing stock.

2. Judgments in applying accounting 
policies and key sources of 
estimation uncertainty
Preparation of the financial statements 
requires management to make significant 
judgements and estimates. The items in the 
financial statements where these judgments 
and estimates have been made include: 

Allowances for impairment of  
trade receivables 
The company estimates the allowance for 
doubtful trade receivables based on an 
assessment of specific accounts where the 
company has objective evidence comprising 
default in payment terms or significant 
financial difficulty that certain tenants are 
unable to meet their financial obligations. 
In these cases, the judgment used was 
based on the best available facts and 
circumstances including but not limited to, 
the length of relationship. At 31 December 
2017, provisions for doubtful debts 
amounted to €732,001, which represents 
31.8% of trade receivables at that date  
(2016: €542,616 – 17.5%). 

Useful lives of depreciable assets
The annual depreciation charge depends 
primarily on the estimated lives of each 
type and component of asset and, in certain 
circumstances, estimates of fair values 
and residual values. The directors annually 
review these asset lives and adjust them 
as necessary to reflect current thinking on 
remaining lives in light of technological 
change, prospective economic utilisation 
and physical condition of the assets 
concerned. Changes in asset lives can have 
significant impact on depreciation charges 
for the period. It is not practical to quantify 
the impact of changes in asset lives on an 
overall basis, as asset lives are individually 
determined, and there are a significant 
number of asset lives in use. The impact 
of any change would vary significantly 
depending on the individual changes in 
assets and the classes of assets impacted. 
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Notes to the financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2017

3. Turnover
An analysis of turnover by class of business is as follows:

2017
€

2016
€

Development fees 1,697,739 260,707

Other income 298,187 182,227

Management fees 227,838 83,578

Availability income 9,486,446 5,078,114

Rents 17,575,923 16,078,453

29,286,133 21,683,079

All turnover arose in Ireland.

4. Other operating income

2017
€

2016
€

Government grants amortised 12,235,056 11,785,788

2,235,056 1,785,788

5. Surplus on maintenance costs

2017
€

2016
€

Planned maintenance expenditure (1,063,197) (942,335)

Management and maintenance subsidies 1,588,301 1,587,389

525,104 654,054

6. Surplus on ordinary activities before taxation 
The operating surplus is stated after charging/(crediting):

2017
€

2016
€

Development charged as an expense 73,927 321,634

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 10,148,083 8,906,763

Rent - operating leases 73,390 184,568

Defined contribution pension cost 299,394 237,290

7. Taxation
As a result of the company’s charitable status, no charge to corporation tax arises under the 
provision of Section 207 of the Taxes Consolidation Act 1997.
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Notes to the financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2017

8. Employees 
Staff costs were as follows:

2017
€

2016
€

Wages and salaries 6,932,694 5,854,298

Social security costs 740,232 621,899

Cost of defined contribution scheme 299,394 237,290

7,972,320 6,713,487

Capitalised employee costs during the financial year amounted to €358,794 (2016: €NIL).
The average monthly number of employees, during the financial year was as follows:

2017
Number

2016
Number

Employees 164 142

Salary banding for all employees earning over €50,000 (including salaries, 
performance-related pay and benefits in kind but excluding pension contributions  
paid by the employer and any termination payments):

2017
€

2016
€

€50,000 to €60,000 18 17

€60,000 to €70,000 20 11 

€70,000 to €80,000 5 4

€80,000 to €90,000 5 6

€90,000 to €100,000 4 5 

€100,000 to €110,000 1 -

€110,000 to €120,000 2 1

55 44

The company commissions Willis Towers Watson to undertake reviews of its salaries and 
benefits every three years. The review is based upon comparison with the private, public 
and non-profit sectors. The current review has been extended to take into account the salary 
of the Chief Executive. The Chief Executive’s salary in 2017 was €120,000. The next Willis 
Towers Watson review is due in 2018.

 
9. Interest receivable

2017
€

2016
€

Other interest receivable
715 2,222

715 2,222

10. Interest payable and similar expenses

2017
€

2016
€

Interest payable to credit institutions 4,150,773 2,104,415

4,150,773 2,104,415
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Notes to the financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2017
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Notes to the financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2017

12. Stocks 
 

2017
€

2016
€

Repair stock 90,405 59,285

90,405 59,285

13. Debtors

2017
€

2016
€

Trade debtors 2,305,037 3,592,712

Prepayments and accrued income 2,626,527 1,771,598

4,931,564 5,364,31

Included within debtor balances are provisions in respect of bad debts for €732,001  
(2016: €542,616).

14. Cash and cash equivalents

2017
€

2016
€

Cash at bank and in hand 17,003,063 13,867,689

17,003,063 13,867,689
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Notes to the financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2017

15. Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year

2017
€

2016
€

Loans owed to credit institutions 8,711,021 6,409,077

Trade creditors 1,122,510 1,662,893

Taxation and social insurance 448,897 1,131,101

Accruals 3,215,489 2,201,326

Deferred income 1,540,760 1,081,476

15,038,677 12,485,873

2017
€

2016
€

Other taxation and social insurance

PAYE/PRSI control 208,717 185,001

VAT control 231,642 946,100

RCT control 8,538 -

448,897 1,131,101

Secured loans
Included within loans owed to credit institutions are amounts owing to the HFA and CALF 
for €8,349,637 (2016: €5,936,869). Housing loans provided by the HFA are secured by fixed 
charges on specific housing properties. The loans are subject to interest at rates ranging 
between 2.415% and 4.85% (2016: 2.43% and 4.85%). The loans are due for repayment in 
monthly instalments ranging over a 30-year period.

Also included within loans owed to credit institutions are loan facilities owing to Ulster Bank 
of €361,384 (2016: €472,208) for the purchase and fit out of Northbank House. Interest rates 
of 3.75% and 3.5% are charged on these facilities respectively. Ulster Bank hold a freehold 
first legal charge on Northbank House, 159-161 Sheriff Street, Dublin 1 as security over the 
loans. Further details of all charges on the assets of the company are registered with the 
Companies Registration Office and are available at www.cro.ie.

Trade and other creditors are payable at various dates over the coming months in 
accordance with the suppliers’ usual and customary credit terms.

Other taxes including social insurance are repayable at various dates over the coming 
months in accordance with the applicable statutory provisions.

16. Creditors: Amounts falling due after more than one year

2017
€

2016
€

Loans owed to credit institutions 196,202,612 98,293,401

Government grants received 450,601,065 456,680,841

646,803,677 554,974,242
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Notes to the financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2017

16. Creditors: Amounts falling due after more than one year (contd.)

Secured loans
Included within loans owed to credit institutions are amounts owing to the HFA and CALF for 
€193,108,948 (2016: €94,995,609). Housing loans provided by the HFA are secured by fixed 
charges on specific housing properties. The loans are subject to interest at rates ranging 
between 2.415% and 4.85% (2016: 2.43% and 4.85%). The loans are due for repayment in 
monthly instalments ranging over a 30-year period.  
 
Also included within loans owed to credit institutions are loan facilities owing to Ulster Bank 
of €3,093,664 (2016: €3,297,972) for the purchase and fit out of Northbank House. Interest 
rates of 3.75% and 3.5% are charged on these facilities respectively. Ulster Bank hold a 
freehold first legal charge on Northbank House, 159-161 Sheriff Street, Dublin 1 as security 
over the loans. Further details of all charges on the assets of the company are registered with 
the Companies Registration Office and are available at www.cro.ie.

Government Grants
Government grants represents grants made to the company from CLSS and CAS schemes. 
No capital and interest repayments are required to be made on these grants provided that 
the company continues to comply with certain specific requirements of the local authorities 
with regard to the properties for which housing grants have been provided. These grants are 
secured by specific charges on the association’s land and housing properties. €450,601,065 
(2016: €456,680,841) represents grants to be released to income in future years in 
accordance with the accounting policy on Government Grants.

17. Loans and debt analysis

Analysis of the maturity of loans is given below:

2017
€

2016
€

Amounts falling due within one year
Other loans 8,711,021 6,409,077

Amounts falling due 1-2 years
Other loans 6,815,188 2,601,093

Amounts falling due 2-5 years
Other loans 20,361,575 7,361,754

Amounts falling due after more than 5 years
Other loans 169,025,849 88,330,554

204,913,633 104,702,478

The following is an analysis of the anticipated contractual cash flows including interest 
payable on HFA and CALF loans on an undiscounted basis. Interest is calculated on drawn 
debt held as at 31 December 2017. The interest on debt is calculated by reference to the 
underlying loan agreement and the rate applicable at the balance sheet date.
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Notes to the financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2017

17. Loans and debt analysis (contd.)

Debt
€

Interest on debt
€

Total
€

For the financial year ended 31 December 2017

Due less than one year 8,711,021 5,467,848 14,178,869

Between one and two years 6,815,188 5,271,294 12,086,482

Between two and three years 6,787,762 5,104,016 11,891,778

Between three and five years 13,573,813 9,706,537 23,280,350

In five or more years 169,025,849 67,696,732 236,722,581

204,913,633 93,246,427 298,160,060

Debt
€

Interest on debt
€

Total
€

For the financial year ended 31 December 2016
Due less than one year 6,409,077 2,948,198 9,357,272

Between one and two years 2,601,093 2,813,442 5,414,535

Between two and three years 2,683,321 2,731,214 5,414,535

Between three and five years 4,678,433 5,989,972 10,668,405

In five or more years 88,330,554 46,122,125 134,452,679

104,702,478 60,604,951 165,307,426

18. Financial instruments 

2017
€

2016
€

Financial assets

Cash at bank and in hand 17,003,063 13,867,689

Financial assets measured at amortised cost 2,305,037 3,592,712

19,308,100 17,460,401

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost (209,251,632) (108,566,697)

Financial assets measured at amortised cost comprise trade debtors (209,251,632) (108,566,697)

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost comprise trade creditors, accruals and other 
loans owing within one year and in greater than one year.
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Notes to the financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2017

19. Reserves

Designated reserve
The designated reserve is held for the long-term maintenance of the company’s properties. 
The reserve has been reviewed by management as part of the long term company planning 
process and held at 2016 level as it is seen as sufficient to meet future obligations when they 
fall due to maintain and repair existing housing assets.

Other restricted reserve
The other reserve represents donations of land to the company for the purpose of social 
housing needs. These lands were utilised in the construction of social housing in Galway  
and Cork.

Deferred amortisation reserve
The deferred amortisation reserve represents the credit arising from the FRS 102 adjustment 
on grant funded properties offset by the depreciation on property assets. This reserve will 
reverse, over time, with the exception of permanent timing differences. In 2017 it was €23.22 
million (2016: € 21.06 million). The reserve is as a result of the adoption of FRS102 accounting 
compliant policies. Historically the company accounting policy did not amortise CLSS or CAS 
funding or property assets.

Income and expenditure account
Includes all current and prior period retained surpluses and deficits.

20. Company status
The company is limited by guarantee and consequently does not have share capital. Each of 
the members is liable to contribute an amount not exceeding €1 towards the assets of the 
company in the event of liquidation.

 
21. Capital commitments
At 31 December 2017 the company had capital commitments as follows:

2017
€

2016
€

Contracted for but not provided in these financial 
statements

67,869,135 59,600,605

67,869,135 59,600,605

Capital commitments relates to purchase and development of land and housing properties 
and other fixed assets.

 
22. Pension commitments
The company operates a defined contribution pension scheme for all employees. The 
assets of the scheme are held separately to the assets of the company in an independently 
administered fund. Contributions to the scheme are charged to the income and expenditure 
account as they become payable. The charge for the period is shown in Note 8 of the 
financial statements and at the period end there were unpaid contributions amounting to 
€Nil (2016: €5,541).
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Notes to the financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2017

23. Commitments under operating leases
At 31 December 2017 the company had future minimum lease payments under 
non-cancellable operating leases as follows:

2017
€

2016
€

Not later than one year 2,231,094 2,203,028

Later than one year and not later than five years 8,924,374 8,812,112

Later than five years 24,602,923 28,894,122

Total 35,758,391 39,909,262

 
24. Comparative amounts
Comparative amounts have been regrouped, where necessary, on the same basis as those 
for the current year.

 
25. Events since the year end
There have been no significant events affecting the association since the year end.

 
26. Contingent liabilities
A number of claims have been made against the company in respect of personal injury and 
property-related matters arising from the ordinary course of business. The company, having 
taken appropriate legal advice is defending any claims made against it. Provision has been 
made for legal and professional fees incurred to date in respect of these claims, but not in 
respect of any claims made. Details of these contingent liabilities have not been included in 
the financial statements as disclosure of same could be deemed prejudicial to the outcome 
of these legal cases.

27. Related party transactions
Roxborough Mews Management Company Limited is a related party, as Clúid owns 67% of 
the shares of the company. As at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 Clúid was owed 
€1,825 by Roxborough Mews Management Company Limited.

28. Approval of financial statements

The board of directors approved these financial statements for issue on 22nd March 2018
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Management information
 For the financial year ended 31 December 2017

Detailed profit and loss account
For the financial year ended 31 December 2017

2017
€

2016
€

Other income 298,187 182,227

Turnover 28,987,946 21,500,852

Gross profit 29,286,133 21,683,079

Government grants receivable 12,235,056 11,785,78

Less: overheads

Administration expenses (29,609,993) (25,161,295)

Surplus on maintenance costs 525,104 645,054

Operating profit 12,436,300 8,952,626

Interest receivable 715 2,222

Interest payable (4,150,773) (2,104,415)

Profit for the financial year 8,286,242 6,850,433

2017
€

2016
€

Other operating income

Government grants receivable 12,235,056 11,785,788

12,235,056 1,785,788
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Detailed profit and loss account (contd.)
For the financial year ended 31 December 2017 

2017
€

2016
€

Administration expenses

Staff salaries 6,932,694 5,854,298

Employers’ PRSI 740,232 621,899

Staff pension costs - defined contribution schemes 299,394 237,290

Staff costs 153,584 106,329

Compensation for loss of office as employee 91,506 24,836

Staff training 162,019 164,213

Travel and subsistence 753,637 599,577

Development expenditure not recoverable 73,927 321,634

Postage and stationery 193,183 156,815

Telephone 113,831 162,957

Office equipment and maintenance 514,467 367,195

Publications and subscriptions 41,162 37,232

Professional and consultancy 520,366 213,325

Auditors’ remuneration 16,418 17,820

Bad debts - rental debtors 74,991 49,518

Sundry expenses 60,200 131,857

Rent - operating leases 73,390 184,568

Rent and rates 24,795 22,844

Light and heat 80,175 79,366

Insurances 775,825 658,292

Repairs, maintenance and scheme costs 7,163,741 5,845,341

Depreciation - PPE and computers 297,173 325,088

Depreciation - freehold property 135,895 135,895

Depreciation - land and housing property 9,715,015 8,445,780

Loss on sale of tangible assets 522,695 393,018

Recruitment costs 47,119 83,906

Board expenses 11,125 11,682

Meeting room hire 21,434 19,590

Dilapidations’ provision charge - (110,870)

29,609,993 25,161,295
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2017
€

2016
€

Planned maintenance expenditure 1,063,197 942,335

Management and maintenance subsidies (1,588,301) (1,587,389)

(525,104) (645,054)

2017
€

2016
€

Interest receivable

Bank interest receivable 715 2,222

715 2,222

2017
€

2016
€

Interest payable

Bank interest payable 161,667 45,105

Bank loan interest payable 3,989,106 2,059,310

4,150,773 2,104,415

Detailed profit and loss account
For the financial year ended 31 December 2017
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